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PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 

Performance Overview 
 
The performance report describes how NHS Northumberland Clinical 
Commissioning Group (hereafter referred to as the CCG), has performed during the 
year including a description of the principal risks experienced and how they have 
been addressed.  It also outlines the development and performance of the CCG. 
 
The accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS England under 
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
On 24 March 2017 a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 30 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 was lodged for the breach of financial 
duties indicated in the notes of the accounts. 
 
Despite the CCG posting a cumulative deficit of £40.5m in 2016/17, the accounts 
have been prepared on the basis that the CCG is a ‘going concern’.  Public sector 
bodies are assumed to be a going concern where the continuation of the provision of 
a service in the future is fully anticipated, as evidenced by the inclusion of financial 
provision for that service in public documents.  The financial allocations for 2017/18 
have been approved by parliament and there is no reason to believe that future 
approvals will not be forthcoming. 
 
We certify that the CCG has complied with the statutory duties laid down in the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) except as disclosed. 
 
 
  

 
 
 
Steven Mason      Alistair Blair 
Accountable Officer      Clinical Chair 
30 May 2017   30 May 2017  
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Our Vision for services in the county 
 
Since its inception in 2013 the CCG’s vision has been to ‘ensure that the highest 
quality integrated care is provided, in the most efficient and sustainable way, by the 
most appropriate provider to meet the longer term needs of the people in 
Northumberland’.  This has remained our aim in 2016/17 and we have three strategic 
objectives that support the achievement of our vision: 
 

• To assure the delivery of safety, quality and performance 
• To create joined up pathways across organisations to deliver seamless care 
• To deliver clinically led health services that are focused on the patient and 

based on evidence 
 
Integrated care combines different parts of the health and care system so that they 
work together to form a whole.  This means that health and social care professionals 
work seamlessly as one team, with a joint health record and a co-ordinated plan for 
each patient.  Patients see the professional who can most meet their needs at any 
one time, in effect as one single team regardless of the organisation that 
professional works for.  For this to happen, individuals, organisations, contracts and 
priorities need to be correctly aligned and all workers in the system have a wider 
public health responsibility to reduce variation in the quality of health and social care. 
 
Despite much of our effort being concentrated on the severe financial pressures we 
experienced in 2016/17 we have built on our successful work over many years by 
taking our vision of integration even further.  We have continued to break down the 
barriers between primary, community, hospital, mental health and social care to start 
creating a streamlined experience that avoids duplication and wraps care further 
around the patient. 
 
We have monitored progress throughout the year against our system wide 
transformation operational plan for 2016/17 which included work in the following 
areas: 
 

• Emergency and urgent care 
• Primary Care development 
• Integrated clinical care 
• Development of proposals for the Northumberland Accountable Care 

Organisation (ACO)  
 
This plan took forward our earlier work under the ‘Vanguard’ programme, which 
Northumberland was selected for in 2015.  This sought to deliver a vision of 
‘Unlocking integrated care in Northumberland’ including a ‘Primary and Acute Care 
System’ (PACS) under the umbrella of the first ACO in the country.  The very real 
progress we have made in this respect is outlined later in this report. 
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The Financial Challenge     
 
All CCGs in England are subject to an annual assessment framework, led by NHS 
England.  Given our financial position at the end of 2015/16 the CCG was rated 
‘inadequate’ and, following consideration of a subsequent review which highlighted a 
number of changes that were needed to improve on the CCG’s work, including the 
strengthening of internal financial controls and a review of the governance and 
management structures, NHS England placed the CCG under legal directions from 1 
September 2016.  The directions required the CCG to: 
 

• Develop an improvement plan to include recommendations from the review. 
• Develop and implement a credible financial recovery plan 
• Ensure that it has a fully established and appropriately resourced programme 

management office to ensure appropriate financial management capacity and 
the ability to deliver the requirements of the directions 

• Notify NHS England of any need to make executive appointment, or the next 
tier of management changes  

 
Delivery of our vision therefore has been set against the requirement to ensure a 
sustainable future financial position.  An action plan was immediately developed and 
an intensive programme of work undertaken to meet the requirements of NHS 
England’s directions.  This included the development of a detailed financial recovery 
plan, revised governance arrangements and more public visibility of the CCG’s 
decision making process. 
 
Despite a concerted effort to deliver improved services that also recovered our 
financial position, a number of challenges have meant that the CCG’s financial 
position has worsened in 2016/17 including: 
 

• The opening of the new Northumberland Specialist Emergency Care Hospital 
in June 2015, while transforming the health landscape and benefitting patient 
outcomes, has led to increased demand from walk in patients.  This has had 
a detrimental impact on both the CCG’s financial performance and the 
operational performance of the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS), which 
has continued to experience handover difficulties. 

• The CCG’s elective demand is in the second lowest quintile nationally but 
spend is in the highest quintile 

• Northumberland has one of the largest bed bases in the country 
• The requirement for our largest acute provider to deliver an end of year 

financial surplus 
• The Northumberland health economy has been in a position of financial 

recovery since 2006/07.  All obvious cost saving programmes have been 
implemented in full making additional savings harder to identify and deliver 

 
Moving forward in 2017/18, closer ACO integration will allow us to further align the 
Northumberland healthcare system.  While patient care and experience will remain 
paramount, this will provide the opportunity to scope further system-wide financial 
efficiencies.  
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Improving Quality 
 
As we have delivered against our system wide transformation operational plan 
quality has remained at the very heart of our business.  We have closely monitored 
performance in this respect against a detailed ‘quality dashboard’ and have taken 
prompt and responsive action as required.  As an example we recognise the impact 
of C difficile has on our elderly population and have worked hard to reduce the levels 
acquired in the community.  All of our providers have achieved ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ 
ratings from Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections and this reflects some of 
the work, designed to improve services for our patients, we have undertaken with our 
providers. We have also worked with our general practices and listened to our 
communities to deliver the best services designed to meet Northumberland’s health 
and care needs overall. 
 
We have made significant progress both against our operational plan this year and 
our Vanguard vision for further integration of care under the auspices of the 
Vanguard programme’s Primary and Acute Care System and the Accountable Care 
Organisation, as summarised in the following sections:   
 
Emergency and Urgent Care 
 
Managing the pressures on emergency and urgent hospital services was once again 
challenging in 2016/17. 
 
The opening of the new specialist and emergency care hospital at Cramlington, 
delivering 24/7 consultant led specialist care and faster diagnostics has led the way 
for the future of specialist care in the country and we are starting to see good 
evidence of its clinical success with emergency admissions for the over 75s, total 
bed day usage and average length of stay levels reducing.  Due in part to the work 
that we have undertaken with our general practices we are also seeing the number 
of attendances that could have been dealt with in primary care reducing. 
 
We have worked hard with our partners to develop further integration of clinical 
records.  All CCG practices have signed up to the Medical Interoperability Gateway 
(MIG) which means that clinicians in A&E now have access, with a patient’s consent, 
to primary care medical records.  This helps A&E consultants to understand the 
medical background of the patient and leads to faster diagnosis in emergency 
situations.   The MIG concept has now been expanded by the creation of the North 
Care Record that now means that any provider in the north can access the same 
level of information as the MIG. 
 
Despite the emerging clinical success stories surrounding the new hospital, the CCG 
has continued to see a number of unintended consequences.  Unprecedented 
demands have once again been experienced across the Northumberland health 
economy in the emergency departments, particularly in the new hospital.  Coupled 
with the continued patient perception that the hospital is the ‘go to’ place for any 
ailment this has necessitated the operational diversion of some of Northumberland’s 
limited resource to the points of greatest patient need. 
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The CCG previously monitored urgent and emergency system overall performance 
by being a key member of the System Resilience Groups (SRG) that led local 
resilience and capacity planning for Northumberland and North Tyneside.  In August 
2016 a national directive led to the establishment of an A&E delivery board to 
undertake this work.  In order to deliver a coherent ‘whole system’ approach 
Northumberland and North Tyneside SRGs merged to create a Local A&E Delivery 
Board which operated across a wider footprint. 
 
In early 2016/17, working with North Tyneside CCG, Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust (NHCFT) and NEAS, the CCG undertook an assessment of the 
impact of the new specialist emergency care hospital on the local health system.  
The aim was to try to improve identified flow issues and reduce the numbers of 
unnecessary attendances and ambulance handover delays.  As a result of this 
assessment the CCG commissioned the Emergency Care Improvement Programme 
(ECIP) to undertake an independent assessment in November 2016. 
 
ECIP is a clinically-led programme that offers intensive practical help and support to 
urgent and emergency care systems, leading to safer, faster and better care for 
patients. ECIP’s core workload is focused on extremely challenged systems, and it 
was pleasing to note in the findings that, despite the issues faced in the 
Northumberland system, it is still a very high performing urgent and emergency care 
system.  However following a comprehensive review period the ECIP team identified 
a number of issues concerning the challenges experienced when attempting to 
deliver efficient patient flow in the Northumberland system.  The recommendations 
have been split into three overarching work-streams which seek to better ensure 
patients are treated in the right place first time, develop alternative services to A&E 
and discharge patients in a timely, safe manner allowing them to remain at home for 
longer.  Recognising the importance of implementing the recommendations, the 
CCG will work with all partners to ensure delivery of the system changes required to 
address the issues.    
  
Primary Care Development 
 
Primary care has remained the ‘bedrock’ of healthcare delivery in Northumberland as 
shown by the diagram below.   
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Primary care web based tool: example of most recent quarterly results 
 

 
 
During 2016/17, the CQC assessed 24 member practices, two were rated 
outstanding, 21 good and one requires improvement.  The CCG continues to work 
with the practice requiring improvement.  
 
Building on the success of last year’s primary care strategy for 2016-2020 and early 
Vanguard programme work the CCG developed a detailed primary care operating 
plan designed to take forward the GP Forward View (published in April 2016 and 
designed to improve patient care and access and invest in new ways of providing 
care).  This comprehensive work package has started to look at how to improve 
workforce management, better distribute GPs time and workloads, provide enhanced 
infrastructure support (further alignment of clinical systems) and re-design the 
delivery of patient care.       
 
Early in 2016/17 the CCG completed a detailed capacity and demand analysis of 
general practice.  For the first time ever all 44 Northumberland practices opened 
their appointment booking systems and allowed an independent research company 
to assess the ‘peaks and troughs’ of local demand and match this with available 
practice resource.  The results informed further work by the CCG which led to us 
working closely with the practices this year to deliver improvements to general 
access and the better management of frequent attenders and those with long term 
conditions.   
 
There have been some marked success stories.  Our latest data shows that the 
average percentage of patients helped has increased to just over 8% equating to an 
additional 3,226 contacts each week (potentially 170,000 per year). The 
implementation of a telephone triage system called ‘Doctor First’, which will not suit 
every practice but which we expect will eventually cover 30% of Northumberland’s 
population, has greatly improved same day access.  One practice has reported that it 
is now dealing with 60% more patients a month and has reduced its ‘did not attend’ 
levels to zero.   Practices concentrating on the better management of frequent 
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attenders have made time for longer appointments with this group of patients that 
have allowed for a more holistic approach to be undertaken.  They have 
subsequently seen frequent attender appointment levels decrease dramatically.  
Those who have worked more closely with patients with long term conditions have 
seen patient outcomes improve. 
 
Work has continued to develop primary care ‘hubs’ in Northumberland.  The hub 
model sees nurse practitioners, clinical pharmacists and community paramedics 
working more closely with GP practices, releasing more GP time to deliver care for 
complex patients.  Some practices may merge into a formal hub but others may 
choose to undertake this work remotely.  Either way clinical record connectivity is the 
key.  To prepare for further hub work being undertaken in the future the CCG has 
also worked closely with practices to determine the ‘clinical system of choice’ in 
Northumberland.  Extensive work has already been undertaken to establish a single 
system and it is anticipated that by August 2017, 32 of the 44 practices will 
administer clinical records on the same system.  247,500 patients (77% of 
Northumberland’s population) will be covered by one system; which will make the 
sharing of information required by efficient hub working far easier.    
 
Late 2016/17 also saw the initial release of extended access funding from NHS 
England.  This is designed to further enhance levels of access to GP appointments, 
both weekday and weekend.  It is early days in this respect but the CCG has been 
encouraged by the innovative early proposals from some areas and continues to 
work closely with all practices on this important piece of work.  
 
Managing the more general pressures of elective surgery on hospital services, 
created by a growing and ageing population remained a priority throughout the year.  
We have further improved the quality of referrals in primary care through our practice 
activity scheme where revised metrics were set to continue to reduce variation. We 
have also continued to ensure that low value clinical procedures are not routinely 
referred, or provided in a hospital setting if they do not need to be.  The Value Based 
Commissioning Policy enacted to deliver this was enhanced in 2016/17 to cover 53 
procedures.  All schemes remain premised on the principle that quality, safety and 
patient experience are paramount and in turn, drive efficiency.  We have also 
introduced a ‘Consultant First’ scheme designed to further reduce variation, provide 
care at the most appropriate place and avoid unnecessary patient journeys.  In many 
specialities secondary care consultants now initially review GP referrals before 
deciding if they have to see the patient.  If the consultant thinks that the patient can 
be appropriately managed in primary care then advice will be given to enable this.  
This has improved the patient experience while at the same time reduced outpatient 
attendances and elective admissions.       
 
Integrated Clinical Care 
 
In Northumberland 2.5% of people have very complex needs that require 
comprehensive support and intervention from the health and social care system on a 
daily basis.  They use multiple services, have multiple interactions and see multiple 
health and social care professionals.  To better integrate care for this group we have 
trialled the use of multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) working in the community.  The 
MDTs bring elderly care consultants, pharmacists, the community nursing team and 
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social care support together to discuss complex patients and those receiving home 
care.  This helps GPs to proactively manage patients identified as ‘high risk’.  We 
aim to develop an effective model for complex patients, to improve patient outcomes 
and free up valuable GP time.   
 
2016/17 saw the closer interaction between pharmacists, GP practices and 
community nursing teams. In August 2016 Northumberland welcomed a new cohort 
of trainee pharmacists who, for the first time, are working with GP practice-based 
teams from the very outset of their training.  This allows them to follow an entire 
patient journey from the initial GP visit, through to hospital admissions and 
discharge.  The trainees, together with other pharmacists aligned to community 
resources are providing vital input to help improve understanding of medication, 
involve care home residents and their families in decisions about care and crucially, 
when considered clinically appropriate, reduce the amount of unnecessary 
medication being prescribed. 
 
An Emergency Health Care Plan (EHCP) pilot was implemented in the west locality 
to improve proactive planning across the healthcare system for patients at greater 
risk of admission.  EHCPs are designed to keep people as close to home as possible 
and list the contingency plans, including the most appropriate treatment should 
people fall ill, together with a care pathway involving Hexham General Hospital 
rather than the new specialist emergency hospital in Cramlington.  Initial results have 
been encouraging and we are looking forward to increasing coverage. 
  
Developing proposals for the Northumberland Accountable Care 
Organisation 
 
The above paragraphs outline progress against the primary objectives of the 
Vanguard programme’s key stages, namely the transformation of the urgent and 
emergency care system, delivering primary care at scale and transforming 
community based care.  Viewed together the stages ultimately start to deliver PACS 
in Northumberland.  We also outline above some of the issues we have experienced 
along the journey and the financial challenges we continue to face. 
 
Key parts of the current healthcare system often operate with conflicting financial 
priorities. We firmly believe that only by further integrating organisations and budgets 
can we optimise healthcare provision in Northumberland.  We have therefore worked 
hard in 2016/17 to move further towards our ambition to create the first Accountable 
Care Organisation (ACO) in the country as we believe that this will go a long way to 
realising this aim.  Not only will the ACO be the vehicle that ensures that PACS 
continues to be delivered efficiently and effectively, it will bring together all partners 
on the health and wellbeing pathway of Northumberland residents and seek to 
ensure that they are united in their efforts to deliver seamless services that optimise 
patient outcomes. 
 
Hosted by NHCFT the ACO will receive a fixed budget and will be assessed on its 
performance in achieving an agreed list of outcomes, while having the flexibility to 
arrange services to achieve these outcomes.  The CCG will remain a statutory body, 
with continuing statutory responsibilities. Working closely with the Health and 
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Wellbeing Board, it will have a more strategic role in ensuring that the ACO 
optimises its performance and achieves the objectives it has been set.   
 
Since its inception the CCG has worked closely with local authority colleagues to 
integrate health and social care.  To best prepare the ground for the potential ACO, 
2016/17 witnessed a number of key managerial and organisational changes.  In 
September 2016 the partnership with Northumberland County Council was further 
strengthened by the creation of a strategic commissioning function which has 
enabled shared use of resource.  In addition a number of key joint appointments 
have been made across the organisations, namely the council’s Chief Executive, 
Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Social Care being appointed respectively as 
the CCG’s Accountable Officer, System Transformation Director and Chief Operating 
Officer.  It is important to note that this does not mean that local authority and health 
budgets have merged. Both the local authority and the CCG remain separate 
organisations with independent governance and financial reporting mechanisms. 
 
This section outlines the reasons for beginning the new arrangements as early as 
safely possible.  Northumberland will be the first ACO in the country however and we 
need to ensure we get it right first time.  To best ensure that this happens, the CCG 
and NHCFT have entered a period of consultation designed to ensure the transition 
is seamless and robust financial controls and appropriate governance are in place 
ahead of operational ‘go live’. 
 
Together with Tyne and Wear and North Durham, Northumberland forms part of one 
of the 44 Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) footprints in the country.  
Working with our STP partners we have developed an ambitious draft plan to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the 1.7 million people living in the area.  We 
have described our plans and the intrinsic link to our ACO work to the people of 
Northumberland and have submitted their comments; which will help shape the next 
version of the STP.     
 
While the STP is designed to cover a larger footprint, notwithstanding the potential 
impact that the ACO will make, we recognise that work remains to be done 
specifically in Northumberland to develop a sustainable financial solution.  We have 
therefore set up a system transformation board designed to achieve this with the 
delivery of a number of detailed workstreams and recently appointed a project 
director for system transformation.  It is still early days but we remain sure that this 
additional transformational work will best ensure that the future provision of 
healthcare services is efficient, effective and economical.    
      
Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 
 
In 2016/17 we worked closely with our colleagues in the local authority to provide 
more streamlined mental health provision.  Together we created larger teams of care 
managers who deal with patients who do not need direct intervention (they may just 
need signposting to other available services) from social workers; in doing so we 
have reduced average caseloads from 40 to 15 per week.  Releasing social workers 
has resulted in additional capacity which is used to deliver interventions to those in 
greatest need.  This has consequently led to a reduction in avoidable hospital 
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admissions for people with dementia and learning difficulties and the opportunity to 
support people on the high risk patient pathways. 
 
We also now have a dedicated Advanced Mental Health Practitioner team that can 
respond quickly to requests for Mental Health Act assessments.  We have also 
reduced the community nursing team’s learning disability caseload over the year 
from 30 to 8.5 per week.  This provides greater continuity of care and has greatly 
increased the levels of support available to those with learning disabilities.   
 
Prescribing 
 
We continue to work towards optimising medicine use for Northumberland patients 
and had lower prescribing spend and cost growth than CCGs regionally in 
2016/17.  Our Medicines Optimisation Group has maintained its focus on ensuring 
the right patients get the right choice of medicine at the right time.  The group works 
in partnership with the organisations responsible for managing medicines including 
the 44 GP practices, NHCFT, Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation 
Trust (NTW) and the Local Pharmaceutical Committee. 
 
The Practice Medicines Management service delivered by the GP practices is a key 
mechanism in ensuring that our patients receive high quality, cost effective 
prescribing.  The service successfully delivered a number of cost and quality 
priorities and, while ensuring that patient interest was safeguarded, realised 83% of 
the 2016/17 savings target.   
 
The introduction of a prescribing support tool called OptimiseRX in all GP practices 
was a significant success.  Using past medical patient history the tool provides 
clinicians with best practice formulary advice at the point of prescribing and has 
delivered almost real time activity data for monitoring purposes.  More than 66,000 
best practice messages were displayed in 2016/17 leading to improved prescribing 
performance. 
 
Summary  
 
Despite operating in a very difficult financial environment, we have still achieved a 
great deal in 2016/17.  Leading work with our key emergency and urgent care 
partners, after conducting our own internal audit, we commissioned a team of 
nationally recognised experts to challenge and review the Northumberland system.  
It is now really important that we continue to work with our partners to ensure that 
the initial findings are turned into a comprehensive action plan that is consequently 
fully implemented.  Only a system wide approach to the resolution of the issues 
currently being faced will improve patient flows and personal experiences. 
 
Member GPs have once again been the bedrock of our health services.  They 
opened their practice doors to external scrutiny and challenge in early 2016/17, in an 
effort to fully understand the capacity and demand issues associated with delivering 
an improved service to more people than ever before.  This early work has been 
comprehensively considered and the results fully utilised; patient access to general 
practice has improved as a direct result.  At the time of writing an additional 800 
appointments have been made available each week.  Cognisant of the future need 
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for more flexible care arrangements being needed, to further enhance access they 
have worked collaboratively to migrate to a single clinical system.  In doing so they 
have made their primary care records available to secondary care consultants for the 
very first time.      
 
Already working in a highly integrated local system, 2016/17 saw us take our 
ambition even further.  We have continued to break down the barriers between 
elements of the health system and have delivered enhanced collegiate working in a 
number of areas that has realised patient outcome and experience improvements.  
 
We have also spent a large part of 2016/17 developing the future of healthcare in 
Northumberland.  If all goes well we will become the first ACO in the country in 2017 
and we have contributed to the development of the area’s STP.  We believe that an 
effectively functioning ACO, which is able to harness and guide the collective efforts 
of the local health economy, is key to delivering a financially sustainable healthcare 
system that provides enduring health improvements to the people of 
Northumberland.      
 
Although there are clear success stories on the clinical front, the end of the year 
financial position is once again very disappointing.  Notwithstanding our very best 
efforts to manage within allocated resource, and despite being under direction from 
NHS England, the detailed financial due diligence undertaken ahead of the ACO, 
coupled with very high levels of activity in the acute sector, have resulted in the CCG 
ending 2016/17 with a £40.5m deficit.  
 
The CCG has ensured substantial service provision improvements since its inception 
in 2013, however, as the population expands and demand continues to grow, it is 
clear that this has come at an unsustainable price.  We now stand on the edge of a 
seismic shift in the way healthcare is managed in Northumberland.  Given the years 
that we have worked closely with our key partners in the health economy we are 
absolutely confident that only further integration can provide the required system 
stability.  We are consequently looking forward to realising our vision for the ACO in 
2017. 
 

Performance analysis   
 
The CCG has an ongoing performance review process that manages the NHS 
constitutional targets along with other key metrics and ensures that Northumberland 
patients are able to access a wide range of quality led health services, delivered to 
safe and recognised standards within a timely period.  
 
Members of the CCG’s Joint Locality Executive Board (JLEB) consider performance 
update reports on a monthly basis. The reports summarise the performance of the 
CCG against the key constitutional indicators. Where there are areas of 
underperformance or performance concern, the reasons are outlined along with the 
requisite actions. Provider performance is also included, together with appropriate 
actions being taken in response to highlighted issues.  The report, together with Joint 
Locality Executive Board comments and actions is also presented to the Governing 
Body’s Resources and Performance Committee. 
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The CCG provides assurance on a regular basis to NHS England and formal 
quarterly review sessions are held between the two organisations.  Outside the 
normal review timescales the CCG highlights emerging issues and the immediate 
actions being taken in response to NHS England when deemed necessary. 
 
Monthly performance reports are also presented to the Local Accident and 
Emergency Delivery Board, concerning accident and emergency and out of hours 
provision, including primary care and the ambulance service. The CCG, through this 
board, provides assurance to NHS England that there is sufficient system capacity 
throughout periods of anticipated surges in demand. 
 
The following indicators are routinely monitored and reported: 
 
 

Ambulance Cat A 
 
 

 
 

         
 
 Key:       Achieved or exceeded target         Underachieved <3%        Underachieved >3%    

 
 
Improvement assessment framework 
 
Table 1 - Performance against the six clinical domains 
 

 
 

Good is Better/
High/ 
Low Worse

England

Diabetes patients that have achieved all the NICE-
recommended treatment targets: Three (HbA1c, cholesterol 
and blood pressure) for adults and one (HbA1c) for children

2014-15 H Better 41.6% 39.8%

People with diabetes diagnosed less than a year who attend a 
structured education course 2014/15 H Better 12.7% 5.7%

Cancers diagnosed at early stage 2014 H Better 55.5% 50.7%

Cancer treatment within 62 days of referral 85% Mar-17 H Better 87.5% 82.7%

One-year survival from all cancers 2014 H Worse 69.8% 70.4%

Cancer patient experience 2015 H Better 8.9 8.7

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies recovery rate 50.0% Dec -16 Rquarter H Worse 44.1% 48.8%

People with first episode of psychosis starting treatment with 
a NICE-recommended package of care treated within 2 weeks 
of referral

50.0% Mar-17 H Better 85.7% 73.7%

Reliance on specialist inpatient care for people with a learning 
disability and/or autism

Q2 16/17 L 90

Proportion of people with a learning disability on the GP 
register receiving an annual health check 2015-16 H Better 52.6% 37.1%

Neonatal mortality and stillbirths 2014-15 L Worse 9.0 7.1

Women’s experience of maternity services 2015 H 82.4

Maternal smoking at delivery Q3 16/17 L Worse 14.1% 10.6%

Choices in maternity services 2015 H 66.9%

Diagnosis rate for people with dementia 66.7% Mar-17 H Better 68.0% 67.8%

Dementia care planning and post-diagnostic support 2015-16 H 75.5%
Dementia

England

Diabetes

Cancer

Mental Health

Learning disability

Maternity

Indicators Indicator Description National 
standard Latest data CCG  

RTT 18 
Weeks 

Diagnostic 
Waits 

Dementia IAPT 
 

Ambulance 
Response 

Times 
 
 

Cancer 
 CCG  Overall 

Northumberland  

A&E 
Waits  
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Table 1 shows recent CCG performance against the six clinical areas (the key 
indicators that NHS England assesses the performance of the CCG against). The 
indicators are an abstract from the wider improvement assessment framework. Due 
to the nature of the information collected elements of the data can be two or three 
years old. 
 
The indicators that are RAG (Red, amber, green) rated have national NHS 
Constitution standard thresholds.  Those that are not RAG rated do not have a target 
to compare performance against and the CCG’s performance is compared with the 
overall national /England average.  The Table also indicates if the standard is 
achieved by attaining a high or low number. 
 
The CCG has implemented a wide ranging action plan to continually improve 
performance in this area including: 
 
Diabetes – An application was successfully submitted to a central transformation 
fund to provide funding for additional structured educational courses out of normal 
office hours. It is anticipated that this will improve the most recent performance of 
12.7% to 25% over the next two years. 
 
Cancer – While the CCG consistently achieves the constitution standards it intends 
to generate more headroom to ensure greater consistency. It is reviewing access 
policies to offer patients more appointments in the first week of the two week 
pathway from GP referral to being seen. 
A primary care audit is planned on lung cancer diagnosis for peer group learning to 
improve one year survival rates and reduce non elective diagnosis rates. 
 
Mental Health – The CCG is working closely with the provider to improve the national 
recovery rates and reduce the local access wait targets. During 2017/18 it is 
expected that the CCG performance will exceed the NHS Constitution standards. 
 
Learning disability – An ongoing focus on improving access to annual health checks 
continues.  
 
Maternity – To improve the neonatal mortality and reduce still births the CCG is 
promoting the smoke free initiative “Baby clear”. It will also contribute towards 
reducing the maternal smoking at time of delivery and enhance performance in 
respect of low birth weight for which the CCG is also an outlier.  
 
Dementia – The CCG continues to deliver the current rate of performance, slightly 
above the NHS Constitution standard. 
 
Patient access to services 
 
18 weeks referral to treatment 
 
The CCG’s performance has been strong across the range of 18 weeks referral to 
treatment specialties and has consistently achieved the 92% constitutional target for 
the incomplete (waiting list) indicator as shown by the Chart 1 below.  
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At specialty level, performance in year has improved. The only area of under-
performance is related to the trauma and orthopaedic specialty, largely due to the 
recruitment and retention of staff.  
 

 
 

Chart 2 above shows that performance has been consistently strong in much of 
2016/17.  Additional funding was made available from NHS England during quarter 3 
in 2013/14 to clear waiting lists of patients who had waited significantly longer than 
18 weeks.  
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Diagnostic services 
 
The NHS constitutional standard states that no more than 1% of patients should 
receive their diagnostic test later than six weeks after a GP referral. As shown in 
Chart 3 below, this standard was consistently achieved in 2016/17. During the 
months of July and August in 2015/16 the high proportion of breaches were due to 
capacity and staffing issues at Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
(NHCFT). These issues have now been resolved and the provider has put processes 
in place to reduce the risk of future breaches. 
 

 
 
Mixed sex accommodation breaches 
 
Throughout the year there were no mixed sex accommodation breaches 
experienced by Northumberland residents or in any of the local providers’ hospitals 
from which the CCG commissions services. 
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Cancer 
 
During 2016/17, the CCG has achieved the wide range of cancer targets as shown in 
Chart 4 below: 
 

 
 
In 2016/17 the CCG has particularly focused on improving access to services to 
enable more patients to be seen within two weeks of referral by a GP to enable the 
improvement in performance.  
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Accident and Emergency wait times 
 
In previous years the local providers showed some of the strongest performance 
nationally to ensure that patients were either treated or admitted to a ward within a 
maximum of four hours when they attended an accident and emergency department. 
However as Chart 5 below shows, the performance has not been as strong during 
2016/17.  
 

 

 
 
The above Chart also shows that Northumberland residents had access to a more 
responsive Accident and Emergency service when compared to the overall England 
average.  
 
Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (NUTHFT) under 
performance has been partially attributable to unprecedented levels of activity 
through the department of patients with complex clinical needs. The annual 
performance for the Trust was 94.4%. 
 
NHCFT’s performance also deteriorated significantly during the winter months with 
2016/17 performance averaging 93.9% and not achieving the NHS Constitution 
standard. The Trust has experienced high levels of ambulance handover delays that 
have had a significant impact upon the ambulance response times for the ambulance 
performance both locally and across the North East.  
 
The comparative England average performance for 2016/17 was 89.1%. 
 
 

 Page 20  
 
 

 



 
 

Chart 6 above shows the total hours lost by the ambulance service over the two 
most recent winter periods along with the hours lost whilst attending the Northumbria 
Specialist Emergency Care Hospital (NSECH).  
 
As can be seen from Chart 7 below NSECH has accounted for a significant 
proportion of the total ambulance delays experienced across the North East by the 
Ambulance service. 
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The CCG is working closely with the local health economy on a range of actions to 
improve future performance in reducing the amount of time lost due to ambulance 
delays, improving ambulance response times and accident and emergency waiting 
times. 
 
Working with North Tyneside CCG the CCG commissioned the Emergency Care 
Improvement Team (ECIP) from the North East Urgent and Emergency Care 
Network (UEC) to undertake a five day visit in November 2016. The purpose was to 
challenge and review the system that resulted in delayed ambulance response and 
handovers at NSECH. 
 
ECIP’s findings were presented to the Joint Locality Executive Board in January 
2017. The review concluded that ambulance handover delays were a symptom of 
wider challenges to efficient patient flow across the system.  
 
The findings were also presented to the Local Accident and Emergency Delivery 
Board (LAEDB). A system wide chief officer group has been established that will be 
responsible for the delivery of the actions. The group is chaired by a chief officer 
working within the ECIP team and is working on three streams: 
 

• Assess to admit – Review the appropriateness of patients attending NSECH 
• Today’s work today –  Flow of patients through the hospital 
• Discharge to assess – Ensuring timely and appropriate discharges to reduce 

length of bed occupancy 
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Ambulance response times 
 
Chart 8 and 9 below show that the local eight minute response time target of 73% 
and the 19 minute response time target of 95% were not met in 2016/17 in 
Northumberland or the wider North East.  
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Within Northumberland the annual average performance for the eight minute 
response time target was 61.4% compared with 65.6% in 2015/16 against a local 
73% target. Against the 19 minute response time 95% target the average annual 
performance, year to date, was 84.9% compared with 86.0% in 2015/16. The 
organisation wide performance for the ambulance service also indicates under 
performance against the constitutional standards as an annual average. The eight 
minute and 19 minute response time performance reported at 62.5% and 89.3% 
respectively. 
 

 
 
Chart 10 above shows the year on year deterioration of ambulance performance 
across Northumberland despite a range of ongoing actions being in place. The North 
East Ambulance Service (NEAS) performance remains under scrutiny at both local 
and regional level through lead commissioners and the Quality Review Group.   
 
The underperformance in previous years has been partially attributable to internal 
issues within the NEAS with a high number of staff vacancies and absence levels 
which continue to be an issue and are in the process of being addressed along with 
the impact of handover delays outlined earlier in this report.  
 
There is representation from NEAS on both the Local A&E Delivery Board and ECIP 
working groups which are committed to improving the urgent care performance 
metrics outlined above. 
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Mental Health Services 
 
In September 2015 the CCG commissioned a new provider, Talking Matters 
Northumberland (TMN) for Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
services. During the period of transition a high volume of patients encountered 
delays in treatment. This impacted on the number of people who have completed 
treatment during 2016/17 and who are moving into recovery. The constitutional 
target is 50%. Due to the collaborative working between the CCG and the new 
provider, and additional funding made available from NHS England, the backlog 
inherited during the transition of providers in 2015 has reduced considerably.  
 
Performance has subsequently deteriorated from April 2016 due to high levels of 
referrals and delays in the assessment of patients. Collaborative work with the CCG 
has identified a range of issues which are now being addressed including the use of 
a wider range of assessment tools to measure recovery rates. A contributory factor 
to the underperformance is believed to be due to not having used effective 
assessment techniques to assess recovery.  The annual performance averaged 
44.4% (based on published data available in January 2017) however in April 2017 
recovery rates achieved the 50% threshold required to achieve the NHS Constitution 
target and it is expected that this level of performance will continue.   
 

 
 

There is also an expectation that over a year at least 15% of the population who 
experience depression and/or anxiety disorders receive treatment.  Chart 12 below 
shows that the performance during the year was much stronger than previously for 
the proportion of people.  
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Dementia diagnosis rates 

 

 
 

Chart 13 above shows the ongoing improvement from May 2016 onwards against 
the 66.7% NHS Constitution threshold. From October 2016 the CCG has achieved 
the required standard and current performance is exceeding the England average.  
 
The improvement in performance is mainly due to the ongoing focused work by GP 
Practices to improve diagnosis rates and the support provided by CCG. 
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Early intervention in psychosis (EIP) 
 

 
 
Chart 14 above shows the CCG’s strong performance against the recently 
introduced NHS Constitution target of 50%. An ongoing challenge is offering children 
an appointment for treatment within the 2 week time period along with the low 
volume of children being referred into the service. As Chart 15 shows below a 
breach by a few children can influence the performance of the CCG significantly 
between achieving and failing the target. 
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Healthcare acquired infections 
 
Clostridium Difficile  
 
There were 73 cases reported relating to Northumberland residents against a target 
(not to exceed 77) during 2016/17 compared with a total of 83 reported in 2015/16. 
 

 
 
Chart 16 below shows the breakdown of cases - whether community or hospital 
acquired.  
 
46 of the cases (63%) were acquired within the community and work is ongoing to 
reduce this number. There has been a marked reduction in hospital acquired cases 
(27 compared with 34 in 2015). 
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MRSA 
 
During 2016/17 there were two cases of Northumberland residents acquiring an 
MRSA infection in hospital. Work continues across the health economy to reduce the 
risk of patients acquiring future cases of MRSA. 
 
Financial performance 
 
Key financial performance indicators 2016/17 
 
At the close of 2016/17, the CCG had not met the statutory requirement to ensure 
expenditure in the financial year did not exceed its allocated resource. The CCG’s 
cumulative deficit for 2016/17 was £40.5m, against the allocated revenue resource 
limit as reported in full in the annual accounts. The CCG total revenue resource 
allocation for 2016/17 was £498.2m (restated) and total spend was £538.7m. The 
deficit represents 8.1% of the CCG’s overall budget and follows a cumulative deficit 
in 2015/16 of £10.7m (restated). 
 
The CCG was placed under legal directions on 1 September 2016. In response the 
CCG developed an Improvement Plan which it submitted to NHS England on 7 
October 2016. The Improvement Plan, which incorporated output from the Financial 
Due Diligence exercises carried out in preparation for establishing the Accountable 
Care Organisation, identified a forecast deficit of £35.4m.  Included within this figure 
were a number of balances with Northumberland County Council identified by the 
Due Diligence exercise which had not been accrued in prior years.  The Annual 
Accounts therefore incorporate restated amounts relating to prior period adjustments 
amounting to £5.6m for these items.  
 
Table 2 - Key financial performance indicators 2016/17 
 
NHS Act 
Section 

Duty Target  
£'000 

Performance 
£'000 

Total      
£'000 

Duty 
Achieved 

223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 498,257 
 

538,718 
 

(40,461) No 

223I(2) Capital resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 

0 0 0 Yes 

223I(3) Revenue resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 

498,257 
 
 

538,718 
 

(40,461) No 

223J(1) Capital resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

0 0 0 Yes 

223J(2) Revenue resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

0 0 0 Yes 

223J(3) Revenue administration resource use 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

7,039 
 

6,756 
 
 

283 Yes 
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CCG commissioning budget 2016/17 
 
On 25 March 2016 the CCG’s JLEB approved the CCG 2016/17 annual 
commissioning programme budget of £486.7m. The CCG subsequently received 
additional revenue allocations in-year of £17.1m.  Once prior period adjustments of 
£5.6m are taken account the restated overall commissioning budget was £498.2m. 
 
CCG running costs budget 2016/17 
 
In addition to the commissioning budget the CCG had an initial annual running cost 
budget of £7.04m in 2016/17. This was budgeted across pay, other running costs 
and the Service Level Agreement with North of England Commissioning Support 
(NECS).  
 
Context of the reported financial outturn 2016/17 
 
The 2015/16 Annual Report identified the scale of the challenge in 2016/17 and 
beyond in Northumberland as being considerable and that the CCG had made 
progress to develop a Financial Recovery Plan to deliver a £20m total QIPP in 
2016/17, as a result of demographic, activity and non-recurring pressures. This was 
against a backdrop of the main acute provider also needing to deliver a £32m 
surplus. This combination of competing financial pressures meant that the CCG 
needed to create a Financial Recovery Plan that delivered a step change in the way 
health and care services are organised and delivered in 2016/17, as a pre cursor to 
establishing the Accountable Care Organisation from April 2017. The 2015/16 
Annual Report further noted that the Northumberland health economy has been in a 
position of financial recovery since 2006/07 and subject to formal turnaround 
programmes during that time. The report further noted that all obvious cost saving 
programmes have been implemented in full. The plan to meet the challenge 
therefore needed a paradigm shift.  
 
Whilst the Financial Recovery Plan identified a QIPP programme to deliver financial 
targets in 2016/17 it became apparent early in the financial year that the challenge 
was even more considerable than previously thought as acute activity pressures first 
experienced in 2015/16 increased in year and QIPP schemes failed to deliver as 
originally envisaged. As financial pressures started to mount revised forecasts of 
financial performance were developed early in 2016 which resulted in the CCG being 
formally placed under legal directions from 1 September 2016. Revised forecasts of 
underlying financial performance developed after the submission of the Improvement 
Plan have been scrutinised in detail by the Joint Local Executive Board, the 
Resources and Performance Committee and the Audit Committee and have 
remained consistent, and been delivered in line with these revised forecasts,  
throughout the second half of the financial year.  
 
Better Payment Practice Code 
 
The Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) requires all CCGs to aim to pay all valid 
invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is 
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later. The CCG has met the requirements of the code, as reported in the annual 
accounts and indicated in note 7 of the accounts. 
 
Sustainable Development  
 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to 
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission 
healthcare services.  Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart 
and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.  By 
making most of social, environmental and economic assets, we can improve health 
both in the immediate and long term, even in the context of the rising costs of natural 
resources.  Spending money well and considering the social and environmental 
impacts is enshrined in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012).  We have 
consequently worked hard to minimise our footprint and in 2016/17 undertook a 
further review of our estates strategy with regard to PACS and the ACO.  The review 
included the following headlines: 
 

• The CCG and NHCFT have a clear vision for emergency and primary care 
in Northumberland 

• There is a clear requirement for estates to adopt the whole system 
approach which will be delivered by the ACO 

• The aim is to reduce the estate footprint and optimise utilisation 
• Estate running costs should be used to deliver improved clinical services 
• Void space will be used to deliver care closer to the community and 

support primary care operating hubs 
 
As part of the NHS public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the 
system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 
baseline by 2020.It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our carbon emissions 
percentage using 2016 as the baseline year.   
 
Patient and Public Involvement  
 
We remain firmly committed to listening to the views of the people of 
Northumberland and seek to ensure that they are at the very heart of our decision 
making process.  We also engage the views of general practices, healthcare and the 
voluntary sector. 
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback, 
consultations, work with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and other engagement activities including patient surveys and 
focus groups, as evidenced by our recent work concerning the future of Rothbury 
Community Hospital.  We ensure that feedback is comprehensively captured and, 
where possible, acted upon.  Each year a national 360 degree stakeholders survey 
is completed to provide an analysis of the CCG’s key partners.  Some of the 
highlights of the 2016/17 are below (each of which represented an improvement on 
2015/16): 
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• 83% of stakeholders felt engaged with the CCG 
• 90% of stakeholders felt at ease raising concerns to the CCG about the 

quality of local services 
• 75% of stakeholders felt that the CCG had effectively communicated its plans 

and priorities 
• 81% of stakeholders felt that they had a good working relationship with the 

CCG     
 
Our engagement in 2016/17 was once again extensive, multi-channelled and 
designed to ensure that every opportunity was provided for local people to help 
shape and influence the design of future services.  Key highlights are below: 
 

• The Vanguard Co-Design Forum (VCDF) has operated throughout the year.  
It has extensively considered the locality PACS design issues associated with 
delivering primary care at scale in Northumberland, together with more 
strategic issues, including direct input into the design of the long term health 
outcomes which the ACO will be tasked to deliver.  We have worked closely 
with our locality ambassadors, Northumberland Carers, Healthwatch 
Northumberland, the Northumberland Health and Wellbeing Board, the 
Alzheimers Society and our providers of healthcare services each of whom 
made a tangible input to the design of our services. 

• Two county wide patient forums took place in 2016/17, in Hexham and Blyth.  
We co-designed the format for both events with our patient forum steering 
group comprising representatives from each of our four localities.  The forums 
were attended by representatives from the CCG, NHCFT, Carers 
Northumberland, Healthwatch and Age UK. The following topics were 
considered in workshops: 

o Improving health and wellbeing outcomes 
o Staying well this winter – self-care and ensuring that the right services 

are used for the most appropriate treatment 
o Developing healthy and resilient communities 
o Creating community health and wellbeing centres 

The forums were well attended and feedback from both events was very 
positive including the comments: 

o “some good ideas from fellow workshop participants”  
o “some good examples of good practice in the county” and 
o “went very well, very useful”    
o “Very interesting.  It was productive in many ways to be able to 

participate in discussions and learn about plans for the ACO 
• We conducted an extensive period of engagement in early 2017 designed to 

ensure that Northumberland residents were fully informed about the national 
STP programme and how this, and the potential ACO, will determine the 
future landscape of healthcare in the county.  Delivered in partnership with 
Healthwatch Northumberland the four locality events were very well attended.  

• We have continued to try to engage with harder to reach groups throughout 
the year and have had some success during the Rothbury consultation period, 
particularly with young people.  We worked with partner agencies and the 
youth service to support a group of young people (The A team) to develop 
information for young people regarding child sexual exploitation (CSE). We 
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helped The A Team produce reference/resource documents that were 
subsequently distributed to general practices, schools and children’s centres.  
As a result of the work The A Team won a national CSE working group award 
and their resources were showcased at a national children’s safeguarding 
conference. 

• Following the success of the VCDF NHS England selected the 
Northumberland health economy as one of the 15 areas nationally to better 
empower people and communities and accelerate work towards: 

o Engaging people in their own health and wellbeing 
o Building public health through community engagement 
o Supporting self-care and patient activation 

Early 2017 witnessed a period of comprehensive research designed to 
establish a baseline of available partnership organisation assets. It is early 
days in this respect but we are looking forward to working even more closely 
with our communities in the future on this work 

 
Reducing health inequality 
 
NHS Northumberland CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010, the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED) and the Health and Social Care Act 2012. We have 
demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
(EDHR) into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, 
employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving 
people in our work as evidenced below: 
 
The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)  
 
We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have 
been using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core 
business functions to support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
and to improve our performance for the community, patients, carers and staff with 
protected characteristics that are outlined within the Equality Act 2010. 
 
This has been an opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain 
insight into the local population’s diverse health needs and we have reviewed and 
updated our Equality Objectives to reflect this. 
 
The Governance Group approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure that 
individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. Progress against these 
action plans is reported to the committee on a quarterly basis. 
 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
 
In accordance with the PSED and the NHS Equality and Diversity Council agreeing 
measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) backgrounds 
have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard 
(WRES). 
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We have collated staff data as outlined within the updated WRES reporting template 
for 2016. We aim to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels 
for black and minority ethnic staff. 
 
Equality Analysis 
 
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core 
business processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, 
patients and staff’s diverse health needs.  
 
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 
(Race, Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and 
Civil Partnership and Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and 
Carers.  
  
Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, 
procedures and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts 
identified we will take immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the Action 
Plan set out in the tool to make sure equity of service delivery is available for all as 
well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress against challenges identified 
to monitor and reduce inequality for our local population. 
 
The tool also now includes checks in relation the Accessible Information Standard to 
aid compliance with the Standard when commissioning services to ensure that 
information is provided to all service users and patients in a way they can 
understand. 
 
Our staff have been offered interactive training on how to complete the document as 
well as process guidance within the EIA itself.  
 
Health Inequalities 
 
NHS Northumberland CCG has regard to the need to reduce inequalities between 
patients in accessing health services for our local population. 
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint 
strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data 
including local health profiles as well as qualitative data through our local 
engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard to reach groups. 
 
The CCG covers the county of Northumberland and serves a population of 
approximately 322,000 people with 44 GP practices.  The health of people in 
Northumberland is varied compared with the England average. About 18% (9,300) of 
children live in low income families. Life expectancy for women is lower than the 
England average.  Life expectancy is 9.3 years lower for men and 7.3 years lower for 
women in the most deprived areas of Northumberland compared to the least 
deprived areas. 
 
19.8% of children are classified as obese. The rate of alcohol-specific hospital stays 
among those under 18 is worse than the average for England. Levels of 
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breastfeeding initiation and smoking at time of delivery are worse than the England 
average. 
 
The rate of alcohol-related harm and self-harm hospital stays is worse than the 
average for England. Estimated levels of adult excess weight are worse than the 
England average. The rate of smoking related deaths is also worse than the average 
for England.  
 
Rates of sexually transmitted infections and TB are better than average. Rates of 
statutory homelessness, violent crime, excess winter deaths and early deaths from 
cardiovascular diseases are better than average. 
 
Through our Equality Analysis process we carry out evidence based service reviews 
impacting the risks for our protected groups when reviewing and developing our 
services. Our EIA tool is developed to make these considerations at the beginning of 
the decision making process and throughout all of the appropriate stages of work.  
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the 
Governance Group is required for monitoring and completion. 
 
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector 
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local 
community we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.  
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual 
feedback/input, consultations, working with other organisations and community 
groups, attendance at community events and engagement activity including patient 
surveys, focus groups and Healthwatch. 
  
As the local commissioner of health services, we seek to ensure that the services 
that are purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We 
appreciate that to deliver this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all 
our stakeholders.  We aim to ensure that comments and feedback from our local 
communities are captured and, where possible, acted upon and give local people the 
opportunity to influence local health services on their terms and enable people to 
have their say using a variety of methods; from completing surveys to attending 
events and providing feedback either online, via post, text or telephone. We invite 
people to be involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to help shape 
and influence the way NHS health services are commissioned. We also provide 
feedback on what we have done in response to comments received. 
 
This year, through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work 
closely with other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has 
been a legacy of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads 
Meetings. Also nationally we have been awarded NHS Employers E&D Partner 
status for 2016/17.  
 
Further information can be found at: 
 
Health Profiles: www.healthprofiles.info 
Public Health England – Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk 
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Northumberland JSNA: http://www.northumberland.gov.uk/Care/JSNA/Health-
wellbeing-assessment.aspx#jointstrategicneedsassessment 
 
Governance 
 
Equality and Diversity is governed and reports into the Governance Group. The 
committee ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory 
requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers national and 
regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing 
issues and opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information 
dissemination and escalation, monitors progress against the Equality Strategy and 
supports us in the achievement of key equality and diversity objectives. 
 
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the board outlining 
relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
 
Staff training 
 
Equality and Diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff with induction 
training on EDHR being provided for new starters and mandatory refresher training 
carried out every three years. This includes online training assessments as well as 
face to face workshops as requested. 
 
Staff involved in the recruitment of new staff are also required to undertake 
recruitment and selection training which includes awareness of equality and diversity 
legislation as it relates to the recruitment process.  
 
Accessibility and communications 
 
Our public buildings are accessible for people with a disability as we ensure all 
buildings have had disability access audits.  
 
We use everyday language solutions when an interpreter is required by telephone 
and when face to face interpreting may be needed. Information for patients and the 
general public is available in other languages or formats such as large print or Braille 
and audio, upon request.  
 
Compliments and complaints 
 
We welcome feedback, positive or negative, about people’s experience of local NHS 
services as this helps us to improve services for patients. 
 
Equal Opportunities for staff 
 
We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and 
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and 
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work 
rated as of equal value, being entitled to equal pay. 
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Health and wellbeing strategy  
 
We have worked closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board throughout 2016/17.  
Our daily business is entirely cognisant of both the Northumberland Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment and the board’s overarching vision.  The CCG’s Clinical Chair 
and Chief Operating Officer attended the board’s meetings and provided updates on 
STP and ACO progress and contributed to the full range of the board’s business.  
The board were kept fully informed on the CCG’s in-year initiatives and considered 
throughout that they were fully in line with the joint health and wellbeing strategy.   
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Corporate Governance Report 
 
Members’ Report 
 
Member Practices 
 
The CCG membership body consists of one clinical representative from each of the 
following 44 member practices: 
 

Adderlane Surgery Humshaugh and Wark Medical Group 
Bedlingtonshire Medical Group Infirmary Drive Medical Group 
Belford Medical Group Laburnum Medical Group 
Bellingham Practice Lintonville Medical Group 
Bondgate Surgery Marine Medical Group 
Branch End Surgery Middle Farm Surgery 
Brockwell Medical Group Netherfield House Surgery 
Burn Brae Medical Group Ponteland Medical Group 
Cheviot Medical Group Prudhoe Medical Group 
Collingwood Medical Group Riversdale Surgery 
Coquet Medical Group Rothbury Practice 
Corbridge Medical Group Scots Gap Medical Group 
Cramlington Medical Group Seaton Park Medical Group 
Elsdon Avenue Surgery Sele Medical Practice 
Forum Family Practice Station Medical Group 
Gables Medical Group Union Brae and Norham Practice 
Gas House Lane Surgery Village Surgery 
Glendale Surgery Waterloo Medical Group 
Greystoke Surgery Well Close Medical Group 
Guide Post Medical Group Wellway Medical Group 
Haltwhistle Medical Group White Medical Group 
Haydon Bridge and Allendale Health 
Centre 

Widdrington Surgery 

 
Note – From 1 April 2017 the number of practices reduced to 43 following the merger 
of Waterloo and Station practices, becoming Railway Practice. 
 
Composition of Governing Body 
 
The Governing Body membership consists of: 
 

• Mrs Janet Guy, CCG Lay Chair 
• Mrs Karen Bower, Lay Governor with lead for resources and performance and 

patient and public involvement and deputy CCG Lay Chair 
• Mr Steve Brazier, Lay Governor with lead for audit and conflict of interest 
• Dr John Unsworth, nurse 
• Dr Paul Crook, secondary care doctor 
• Dr Alistair Blair, Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer) *1 
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• Mr Steven Mason, Accountable Officer  
• Mrs Julie Ross, Chief Operating Officer *2 
• Mrs Vanessa Bainbridge, Chief Operating Officer 
• Mr Rob Robertson, Chief Finance Officer *3 
• Mr Mike Robson, Interim Chief Finance Officer 
• Dr David Shovlin, Locality Director (West Locality) and Director for Unplanned 

Care 
 

*1 Dr Alistair Blair, Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer), stood down from his 
role as Accountable Officer in December 2016, Mr Steven Mason was appointed 
Accountable Officer in December 2016. 
 
*2 Mrs Julie Ross left the organisation in January 2017.  Mrs Vanessa Bainbridge 
was appointed Chief Operating Officer in January 2017.  
 
*3 Mr Rob Robertson left the organisation in September 2016, Mr Mike Robson was 
appointed Interim Chief Finance Officer in September 2016. 
 
The Audit Committee membership consists of: 
 

• Mr Steve Brazier, Lay Governor with lead for audit and conflict of interest 
(Chair) 

• Dr Paul Crook, secondary care doctor 
 
The governance statement provides full details of the members and the work of the 
other CCG committees and groups.  
 
Register of Interests 
 
Details of any declarations of interest for Governing Body members, Joint Locality 
Executive Board members, staff and member practices can be found on the CCG’s 
website at http://www.northumberlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/register-of-interest/. 
 
Personal data related incidents 
 
No Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches were reported in 
2016/17.  
 
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
 
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms:  
 

• So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the 
purposes of their audit report  
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• The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order 
to make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it  

 
Modern Slavery Act  
 
NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports the Government’s 
objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the 
requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as 
set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Accountable Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS 
Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  
 

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable  

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts Direction)  

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities) 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) 
 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of 
Health and in particular to: 
 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis 
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• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial 
statements; and 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), 
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter, except in relation to the NHS Act 2006 sections 223H(1) 
and 223I(3) (as amended), which are not met as the CCG has reported a financial 
deficit in year. 
 
I also confirm that:  
 

• As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have 
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are 
aware of that information  

• That the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual 
report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is 
fair, balanced and understandable  

 
 

 
 
 
Steven Mason       
Accountable Officer       
30 May 2017    

 Page 43  
 
 

 



Governance Statement 
 
Introduction and context 
 
NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended). 
 
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, 
in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such 
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local 
population.   
 
As at 1 April 2016, the CCG was not subject to directions from NHS England issued 
under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  As at 1 September 
2016, the CCG is subject to directions from NHS England issued under Section 
14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  The directions may be viewed here: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-
content/uploads/sites/12/2016/09/ccg-directions-northumberland.pdf 
 
Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s 
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical 
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 
 
UK Corporate Governance Code 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups are not required to comply with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.  However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance 
arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of 
the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG. 
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Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained 
within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert 
external legal input, to ensure compliance with all the relevant legislation.  That legal 
advice also informed the matters reserved for the Membership Body and Governing 
Body decision and the Scheme of Delegation. 
 
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and 
powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and 
other associated legislation and regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that the CCG 
is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
 
Membership of the Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
A total of 44 practices comprise the members of NHS Northumberland Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and details of these are included in the CCG’s 
constitution.  Providers of primary medical services to a registered list of patients 
under a General Medical Services, Personal Medical Services or Alternative Provider 
Medical Services contract are eligible to apply for membership of the CCG.  No other 
providers of primary medical services have applied for membership of the CCG 
during 2016/17.  
 
The membership of the CCG, through its practice representatives is responsible for: 
 

• Making recommendations to NHS England for any amendments to the CCG’s 
constitution 

• Approving arrangements for appointments within the CCG 
• Making recommendations to NHS England for the appointment by NHS 

England of the Chief Clinical Officer 
• Approving the appointment of, and terms and conditions for, members of the 

CCG’s Governing Body 
• Approving the CCG’s annual report and accounts 

 
Each member has a practice representative who represents their practice’s views 
and acts on behalf of the practice in matters relating to the CCG.  
 
In addition to the practice representatives the CCG has identified a number of roles 
to either support the work of the CCG and/or represent the CCG. The roles may be 
filled by GPs, primary care health professionals, or other practice employees/ 
partners who are not health professionals. These representatives undertake the 
following roles on behalf of the CCG:  
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One Locality Director each, for:  
 

• Blyth Valley 
• Central Northumberland 
• North Northumberland 
• West Northumberland 

 
One Business Director for:  
 

• Finance and Commissioning 
 
A total of two members’ meetings (Council of Practices) were held during the period 
April 2016 to March 2017. 
 
Date of meeting Total no. of member representatives in attendance 

(out of 44 members) 
27 September 2016 16 
8 March 2017 32 
 
At each of the members’ meetings general updates including updates on finance, 
commissioning plans and quality were provided.   
 
Committee(s), including Audit Committee 
 
The Governing Body 
 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 
 
The Governing Body is established as a committee of the CCG in accordance with 
the constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation. In accordance with the 
terms of reference, the Governing Body meets bi-monthly, with a minimum of five 
meetings per financial year.  A total of six meetings of the Governing Body were held 
during the period April 2015 to March 2016; membership and attendance is as 
follows: 
 
Title Member Attendance 
Lay Chair Janet Guy 6/6   
Two Lay Governors:   

Lead on audit and conflict of 
interest 

Steve Brazier 6/6 

Lead on resources and performance 
and patient and public involvement 

Karen Bower  6/6 

One registered nurse Dr John Unsworth  3/6 
One secondary care specialist doctor Dr Paul Crook 6/6 
The Accountable Officer Steven Mason 1/2 *1 
 Page 46  
 
 

 



The Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable 
Officer) 

Dr Alistair Blair 6/6 *2 

One Locality Director/Business 
Director  

Dr David Shovlin 5/6 

The Chief Operating Officer Vanessa Bainbridge 3/3 *3 
The Chief Operating Officer Julie Ross  4/4 *4 
The Interim Chief Finance Officer Mike Robson 3/3 *5 
The Chief Finance Officer  Rob Robertson 2/4 *6 
 
*1 Steven Mason was appointed as Accountable Officer in December 2016 
*2 Dr Alistair Blair stood down from his role as Accountable Officer in December 
2016 
*3 Vanessa Bainbridge was appointed as Chief Operating Officer in January 2017 
*4 Julie Ross left the CCG in January 2017 
*5 Mike Robson was appointed as Interim Chief Finance Officer in September 2016 
*6 Rob Robertson left the CCG on secondment in September 2016 
 
The Governing Body terms of reference state that the Lay Governor lead on patient 
and public involvement or the Lay Governor lead on resources and performance may 
be appointed as deputy Lay Chair.  Karen Bower, Lay Governor lead on resources 
and performance and patient and public involvement has been appointed as deputy 
Lay Chair. 
 
The Governing Body members bring a range of complementary skills and experience 
in areas such as finance, governance and health policy. All Lay member 
appointments, and the appointment of the Chair, have been made in accordance 
with the constitution, taking account of the skill sets already represented on the 
Board and recognising where gaps could be filled.  
 
The principal function of the Governing Body is to provide the CCG with an 
independent and objective view of the CCG’s arrangements to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles 
of good governance.  It has functions conferred on it by sections 14L(2) and (3) of 
the 2006 National Health Service Act, inserted by section 25 of the 2012 Health and 
Social Care Act. 
 
The Governing Body has responsibility for the following key areas in relation to the 
CCG’s governance arrangements: 
 

• Ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the 
CCG’s principles of good governance (its main function) 

• Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to 
employees or other persons providing services to the CCG 

• Giving assurance that the CCG is acting consistently with its functions and 
duties approving a comprehensive system of internal control, including 
budgetary control, that underpin the effective, efficient and economic 
operation of the CCG 
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• Giving assurance that the CCG is meeting its duty to act effectively, efficiently 
and economically 

• Approving arrangements, including supporting policies, to secure continuous 
improvement in quality and patient outcomes, and giving assurance that the 
CCG is meeting its duty to act with a view to securing continuous 
improvement to the quality of services 

• Giving assurance that the CCG is discharging its financial duties appropriately 
and that there are sufficient actions in place to mitigate risks in delivery 

• Reporting to the CCG any issues that give it cause for assurance concern 
 

Regular items on the agenda of the Governing Body meetings include: 
 

• Updates on the work of the Resources and Performance Committee, 
Engagement Public Health and Quality Committee, Audit Committee, the 
Northumberland Primary Care Commissioning Committee and the Joint 
Locality Executive Board 

• Financial performance updates 
• A report highlighting key issues is presented by the Chief Operating Officer 
• Regular updates on the development of the CCG assurance framework and 

corporate risk register 
• Regular updates on the development of the Primary and Acute Care System 

(PACS) and the Accountable Care Organisation 
 
Some of the key areas that the Governing Body has been assured on in 2016/17 
have been, but not limited to:   
 

• Primary and Acute Care System (PACS) – Regularly updated on Year 2 
Vanguard progress particularly the work towards extending access to primary 
care 

• Accountable Care Organisation (ACO) – Progress updates including the 
introduction of the strategic commissioning function in September, and work 
towards the potential ACO’s implementation   

• Sustainable transformation plan (STP) – Early engagement and initial 
progress reports 

• The CCG’s Operational Plan 2016/17 – Regular progress updates 
 

Minutes of Governing Body meetings are available here: 
www.northumberlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body/meetings-and-papers/ 
 
Committees of the Governing Body  
 
The Governing Body undertakes a proportion of its work through committees. Each 
committee has a set of terms of reference, which have been formally approved by 
the Governing Body. Committee Chairs present their chair approved minutes to the 
Governing Body meeting following their meeting.   
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Audit Committee    
 
The principal function of the Audit Committee is to provide the Governing Body with 
an independent and objective view of the CCG’s financial systems, financial 
information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the CCG 
in so far as they relate to finance.  The Committee reviews the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and 
internal control across the whole of the CCG’s activities (both clinical and non-
clinical) that supports the achievement of the CCG’s objectives. 
 
The remit and responsibilities of the Committee are to critically review the CCG’s 
financial reporting and internal control principles and ensure an appropriate 
relationship with both internal and external auditors is maintained. The duties of the 
committee are driven by the priorities identified by the CCG, and the associated 
risks. It operates to a programme of business, agreed by the CCG, and is flexible to 
new and emerging priorities and risks. 
 
The membership of the Audit Committee is drawn from Lay members of the 
Governing Body.  In accordance with the terms of reference the Audit Committee 
meets bi-monthly, with a minimum of five meetings per financial year.  A total of six 
meetings of the Audit Committee have been held during the year with attendance by 
members as follows: 
 
Member Attendance 
Steve Brazier (Chair) 6/6  
Dr Paul Crook  6/6 
 
The Committee’s main activities during 2016/17 have been:  
 

• Receiving and critically reviewing reports from both internal audit, external 
audit and service audit reports 

• Approving the internal audit work plan for current and future years 
• Assuring the accuracy of the CCG’s 2016/17 annual reports and accounts 
• Reviewing risks to ensure they are complete, appropriately scored and 

mitigations are managed and appropriate 
• Reviewing the processes in place to identify conflicts of interest in decision 

making, and how any identified conflicts were handled 
 
The Committee has assured the accuracy and integrity of the CCG’s 2016/17 annual 
report and accounts. 
 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee  
 
The principal function of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee (ARC) is to 
advise the Governing Body on senior appointments, about appropriate remuneration 
and terms of service, and determine the remuneration and terms of service of 
members of the Joint Locality Executive Board and other staff directly accountable to 
the Accountable Officer or Chief Operating Officer. 

 Page 49  
 
 

 



 
The membership of the ARC is drawn from Lay members of the Governing Body.  In 
accordance with the terms of reference the ARC meets as and when required, no 
less than once per financial year and no more than 15 months between meetings.  
Four meetings of the ARC were held during the year 2016/17.  Attendance by 
members was as follows: 
 
Member Attendance 
Janet Guy (Chair) 4/4 
Steve Brazier  3/4 
Karen Bower 4/4 
 
The Committee discussed appointments and remuneration levels for 2016/17 for 
appropriate CCG staff. 
  
The Engagement, Public Health and Quality Committee  
 
The principal function of the Engagement, Public Health and Quality Committee 
(EPHQ) is to provide the Governing Body with assurance that: 
 

• Quality sits at the heart of everything the CCG does and that its business is 
focussed on improving quality outcomes 

• The CCG is contributing to the development and achievement of the local 
public health strategy and the health and wellbeing strategy, and  

• The CCG is engaging with local people and stakeholders, in the delivery of its 
core functions, including development and delivery of its commissioning 
strategy and annual plans 

 
The membership of the EPHQ is drawn from Lay members and Executive members 
of the CCG.  Northumberland County Council’s Director of Public Health, Penny 
Spring and the Chair of Healthwatch, Cynthia Atkin are ex-officio members. 
 
In accordance with the terms of reference the EPHQ meets bi-monthly, with a 
minimum of five meetings per financial year.  A total of six meetings of the EPHQ 
have been held during the year with attendance by members as follows:  
 
Member Attendance 
Karen Bower (Chair) 6/6 
Dr John Unsworth   5/6 
Dr Paul Crook  5/6 
Penny Spring/Jim Brown 5/6 
Cynthia Atkin  3/6 
 
The Committee’s main activities during 2016/17 have been:  
 

• Quality – Throughout the year, it was evident to the Committee that the CCG 
consistently pressed for quality from its providers.  The Committee was 
regularly presented with data that showed the main providers performance 
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against a range of quality measures. The NHS thermometer and the traffic 
light measure monitored the performance of the CCG’s main providers. The 
Committee particularly focussed on assuring itself that the CCG and its 
providers offered sufficient patient choice.  Both Children and Adult 
Safeguarding issues were also closely monitored throughout 2016/17 and the 
committee was satisfied with CCG work in this area.  Overall the Committee 
was fully assured on quality issues in 2016/17. 

 
• Engagement – Engagement with patients, the public, stakeholders and CCG 

members was monitored closely and an evidence of engagement report 
produced by the CCG was regularly reviewed.  Both CCG and Vanguard 
engagement evolutions were considered, alongside initial feedback from the 
two county-wide events held in September 2016 and March 2017. Sustainable 
Transformation Plan engagement events took place in each locality and were 
well attended.  The Committee was fully assured that the CCG had 
undertaken appropriate engagement in 2016/17. 

 
• Public Health – The Public Health Skills and Knowledge Framework has been 

developed in response to changes in the Health and Social Care Act, changes 
in staffing and budget pressures.  It will be used to inform job descriptions and 
the range of work undertaken in relation to Public Health across all sectors. 

 
The Resources and Performance Committee 
 
The principal function of the Resources and Performance Committee (RPC) is to 
provide the Governing Body with assurance that the CCG is complying with its duty 
to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. In particular it will 
seek assurance on the effective use of CCG resource to deliver its strategy and 
annual plan. 

 
The membership of this Committee is drawn from Lay members of the Governing 
Body.  In accordance with the terms of reference the RPC meets bi-monthly, with a 
minimum of five meetings per financial year.  A total of six meetings of the RPC have 
been held during the year with attendance by members as follows: 
 
Member Attendance 
Karen Bower (Chair) 6/6  
Steve Brazier  4/6 
Dr John Unsworth  6/6 
Dr Paul Crook 4/6 
 
Regular items on the agenda include:  
 

• The resources report which details the financial position of the CCG, recovery 
and cost improvement plans, and compliance with statutory requirements 

• The performance report which shows trends against national data and targets 
and the CCG’s own trajectories and highlights clearly its areas of strength and 
any weaknesses.  The performance of the CCG is above the national average 
in most categories.  Where there are weaknesses the Committee has been 
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assured that the CCG investigates these thoroughly and seeks improvement 
from service providers 

• Operational Plan and Financial Recovery Plan updates 
 
The Committee received regular financial reports designed to show the CCG’s 
compliance with all financial regulations.  As the year progressed and the CCG 
completed financial due diligence ahead of the potential ACO, it became clear that 
the CCG was highly unlikely to comply with the full range of its statutory financial 
duties and that, predominantly due to the financial pressures caused by the over-
performance of the two main acute providers, it was increasingly likely that the CCG 
would be unlikely to meet its financial duties.   
 
The CCG performance data indicates that performance is at least as expected and in 
many cases good.  Once again however the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) 
performance has been affected by a number of issues, including handover delays at 
the new specialist emergency care hospital and has therefore been a key area of 
concern during 2016/17.  The CCG has proactively worked alongside all partners 
throughout the year to mitigate this issue and the Committee welcomed the 
considered input of the Emergency Care Improvement Programme (ECIP).  The 
committee is assured that the CCG consider this area of operations to be vitally 
important and that it recognises the need for the ECIP action plan to be fully 
implemented.  
 
Northumberland Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 
The principal role of the Northumberland Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
(NPCCC) is to commission primary medical services for the people of 
Northumberland. 
 
The remit and responsibilities of the NPCCC shall be to carry out the functions 
relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the 
NHS Act (except those relating to individual GP performance management, which 
have been reserved to NHS England).  NHS England has delegated to the CCG 
authority to exercise primary care commissioning functions that include but are not 
limited to the following activities: 
 

• General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical Services (PMS) and 
Alternative Providers of Medical Services (APMS) contracts (including the 
design of PMS and APMS contracts, monitoring of contracts, taking 
contractual action such as issuing branch/remedial notices, and removing a 
contract) 

• Newly designed enhanced services (‘Local Enhanced Services’ and ‘Directed 
Enhanced Services’) 

• Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes 
Framework (QOF) 

• Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area 
• Approving practice mergers 
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g. returner/retainer schemes) 
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The membership of this Committee is drawn from Lay members of the Governing 
Body, the CCG Chief Operating Officer or nominated Director, the CCG Chief 
Finance Officer and the Chair of the Local Medical Committee.  In accordance with 
the terms of reference the NPCCC meets at regular intervals and not less than five 
times per financial year.  A total of six meetings of the NPCCC have been held 
during the year with attendance by members as follows: 
 
Member Attendance 
Janet Guy (Chair) 6/6 
Karen Bower 6/6 
Julie Ross *1 5/5 
Siobhan Brown 1/1 
Rob Robertson *2 2/2 
Mike Robson *3 2/3 
Jane Lothian (LMC) 3/6 
Scott Dickinson 5/6 
Cynthia Atkin 2/6 
 
*1 Julie Ross left the CCG in January 2017 
*2 Rob Robertson left the CCG on secondment in September 2016 
*3 Mike Robson was appointed as Interim Chief Finance Officer in September 2016 
 
Committees of the CCG – the following committees have been established by the 
CCG: 
 
The Joint Locality Executive Board 
 
The Joint Locality Executive Board (JLEB) has been established as a committee of 
the CCG in accordance with its constitution, standing orders and scheme of 
delegation. The principal function of the board is to deliver the CCG’s executive 
management functions.   
 
The remit and responsibilities of the JLEB are: 
 

• Setting the strategy of the CCG 
• Agreeing the annual commissioning plan 
• Overseeing delivery of the strategy and annual plan 
• Delivering target outcomes and outputs set by the Secretary of State NHSCB, 

NICE, CQC and other national/regional authorised bodies 
• Agreeing annual commissioning budgets 
• Managing the CCG’s financial and non-financial performance 
• Preparing the CCG’s annual report 
• Agreeing the CCG’s organisational policies and procedures 
• Agreeing contracts with organisations or individuals providing clinical or other 

services to the CCG 
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In accordance with the terms of reference the JLEB meets on a monthly basis. A 
total of 12 meetings of the JLEB were held during the period April 2016 to March 
2017; membership and attendance is as follows: 
 
Title Member Attendance 
Chief Clinical Officer 
(Accountable Officer (Chair) 

Dr Alistair Blair *1 11/12 

Accountable Officer (Chair) Steven Mason *2 4/4 
Locality Director (Blyth Valley) Dr Frances Naylor   11/12 
Locality Director (Central) Dr John Warrington                        11/12 
Locality Director (North) Hilary Brown  10/12 
Locality Director (West) Dr David Shovlin 10/12 
Business Director –  
(Finance and Commissioning) 

Dr John Warrington 11/12 

Chief Operating Officer Vanessa Bainbridge *3 6/6 
Chief Operating Officer Julie Ross *4 7/9 
Interim Chief Finance Officer Mike Robson *5 7/7 
Chief Finance Officer Rob Robertson *6 5/5 
Transformation Director Siobhan Brown 11/12 
Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Patient Safety 

Annie Topping 11/12 

 
*1 Dr Alistair Blair stood down from his role as Accountable Officer in December 
2016 
*2 Steven Mason was appointed as Accountable Officer in December 2016 
*3 Vanessa Bainbridge was appointed as Chief Operating Officer in January 2017 
*4 Julie Ross left the CCG in January 2017 
*5 Mike Robson was appointed as Interim Chief Finance Officer in September 2016 
*6 Rob Robertson left the CCG on secondment in September 2016 
 
Lay Governors now attend JLEB to provide additional advice and guidance. 
 
Regular items on the agenda of the JLEB meetings include: 
 

• A report highlighting key issues is presented by the Chief Operating Officer 
• Updates on the issues discussed at Governance Group, Quality Intelligence 

Group and the Medicines Optimisation Group 
• Updates on the development of the CCG assurance framework and corporate 

risk register 
• Review and approval of policies and strategies of the CCG 
• Updates on the financial position, performance report and commissioning plan 
• Updates on quality and safety issues 

 
Other items discussed at the JLEB meetings held during the year include a review 
and approval of any subsequent changes to the terms of reference of the JLEB’s 
sub-groups; review and approval of proposed changes to the CCG’s constitution.  
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Sub-groups of the Joint Locality Executive Board  
 
Governance Group 
 
The principal function of the Governance Group (GG) is to provide JLEB with advice 
and assurance in relation to its responsibilities for corporate governance. Clinical 
risks are reviewed and managed by the Quality Intelligence Group (QIG). The group 
has no executive powers other than those specifically delegated by JLEB. 
 
The group is authorised by JLEB to: 
 

• Ensure that there are appropriate mechanisms in place so that JLEB can be 
assured that the systems, policies and people in place are operating in a way 
that is effective, focussed on key risks and driving strategic objectives 

• Investigate any activities within its terms of reference and seek any 
information it may require from any employee 

• Obtain outside legal and other professional advice if it considers this 
necessary.  If this is the case the Chief Finance Officer must agree the 
expenditure involved or, in the case of any dispute, this will be decided upon 
by JLEB 

 
The GG produces reports on the risk management processes to provide assurance 
to the Audit Committee, where the Audit Committee deems this to be necessary.  
The group closely liaises with and coordinates its work with the Audit Committee, to 
ensure that both financial and non-financial probity and assurance processes reach 
and maintain the highest standards of public service. 
 
A total of five meetings of the GG were held during the period April 2016 to March 
2017; membership and attendance is as follows: 
 
Title Member Attendance 
Strategic Head of Corporate 
Affairs (Chair)     

Stephen Young                                 5/5 

Chief Operating Officer            Julie Ross/Vanessa 
Bainbridge 

0/5 

Corporate Affairs Manager  Rachael Long  5/5 
North of England Commissioning 
Support Unit representative 

Governance Team   4/5 

 
Regular items on the agenda include: 
 

• Policy update report – Existing policies which have been reviewed and have 
only had minor changes can be approved by the GG.  Policies which are new, 
or existing policies with significant changes, can be approved by the GG but 
they must then be ratified by the JLEB.  This is in line with CO04 Policy for 
Development and Approval of Policies 
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• Governance assurance report – This covers health and safety, equality and 
diversity, information governance, corporate incidents and statutory and 
mandatory training.  The report is produced quarterly 

• Assurance framework and corporate risk register – Both documents are 
reviewed at each meeting 

• Update on agreed actions from internal audit reports 
 
Quality Intelligence Group  
 
The principal function of the group is to assure the quality of commissioned services 
by: 
 

• Monitoring and examining the soft and hard intelligence relating to the quality 
of services provided 

• Monitoring and examining data and intelligence relating to safeguarding of 
children and adults 

• Identifying areas of concern and good practice 
• Taking action where appropriate 
• Ensuring effective processes and systems are in place to manage clinical 

risks 
• Making recommendations for further action to JLEB 
• Providing assurance to the EPHQ that quality sits at the heart of everything 

the CCG does, and that its business is focussed on improving quality 
outcomes 

 
In accordance with the terms of reference the QIG meets on a bi-monthly basis. A 
total of five meetings of the QIG were held during the period April 2016 to March 
2017; membership and attendance is as follows: 
 
Title Member Attendance 
Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Patient Safety (Chair)   

Annie Topping  5/5 

CCG GP Clinical Lead - HCAI  Dr Georgina Morgan                           2/5 
CCG GP Clinical Lead - SI Dr Marie Imlach                                2/5 
CCG Designated Nurse 
(Children)/ Head of Quality and 
Patient Safety (Children) 

Margaret Tench 4/5 

CCG Designated Adults 
Safeguarding Lead/Head of 
Quality and Patient Safety (Adult)                                                            

Fiona Kane                            
  

4/5 

Senior Clinical Quality Officer 
(NECS) 

Sara Hopkins 5/5 

Locality Manager Representative Barbara Edmundson 3/5 
Service Development Manager David Lea 3/5 
Corporate Affairs Manager Rachael Long 4/5 
Public Health Commissioner Karen Rowell 0/5 
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The key role of the QIG is to assure the delivery of safe and good quality services to 
the residents of Northumberland by healthcare providers including care homes.  To 
underpin this work, QIG has two workstreams reporting to each meeting of the 
group, safeguarding and infection control.  As well as these workstreams the group 
also focuses on falls and pressure ulcers, management of serious incidents and 
complaints and learning from these incidents.  
 
Medicines Optimisation Group  
 
The Medicines Optimisation Group (MOG) has been established as a sub-group of 
the JLEB. The group is responsible for ensuring that the CCG: 
 

• Is informed about prescribing performance and intervenes where appropriate 
to ensure high quality and cost effectiveness is maintained 

• Has sufficient competence to achieve and maintain authorisation 
• Maintains a presence on the relevant local medicines management groups 
• Has a robust medicines management vision and strategy 

 
The remit and responsibilities of the group are: 
 

• Providing CCG representation to enable the CCG to influence and contribute 
to the Area Prescribing Committee and its sub committees 

• Reviewing data on prescribing performance relating to the CCG 
• Informing the JLEB of matters arising regarding cost, safety or quality relating 

to prescribing issues 
• Providing close liaison with the commissioning medicines manager to ensure 

that competencies have been assured for authorisation 
• Considering the commissioning priorities of the CCG and providing advice to 

the CCG on the implications of their commissioning priorities 
• Providing oversight of the commissioning support function and providing the 

‘CCG contract management’ of the arrangements for medicines management 
 
In accordance with the terms of reference the MOG meets quarterly, with a minimum 
of three meetings per financial year.  A total of four meetings of the MOG were held 
during the period April 2016 to March 2017; membership and attendance is as 
follows:   
 
Title Member Attendance 
CCG Director for Prescribing 
(Chair) 

Dr Graham Syers  4/4 

CCG Prescribing Lead  Dr Peter McEvedy 3/4 
NECS - Senior Medicines 
Optimisation Pharmacist 

Helen Seymour 4/4 

NECS - Medicines Optimisation  
Pharmacist  

Susan Turner  4/4 

Head of Finance and Contracting
  

Gill Wainwright  2/4 
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Over the past year the MOG has been involved in a number of work areas.  The 
group regularly monitors prescribing budgets, implements strategies to ensure cost 
effective prescribing and agrees the budget setting formula for practices.  The main 
mechanism for delivery in primary care is the Practice Medicines Management 
scheme and this has continued to be developed in 2016/17.  The roll out of a 
prescribing decision support tool to all 44 practices has been a key area of 
success.  This allows best practice messages to be displayed to clinicians at the 
point of prescribing.  The group reviews the agenda and minutes of the Area 
Prescribing Committee (APC), Formulary Sub-committee and the Medicines 
Guidelines Group for consideration of matters requiring approval of the JLEB.  The 
group receives a regular activity report from the North of England Commissioning 
Support Unit (NECS) on prescribing and ensures appropriate action is taken to 
mitigate prescribing quality, safety and cost risk.   
 
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  
 
Risk assessment  
 
Risk Management is embedded in the activity of the CCG through: 
 

• The Risk Management Policy and supporting policies and procedures 
• The Committee structures as described earlier 
• Management processes 
• The assurance framework 
• Risk management skills training including both clinical risk assessments of 

various types and the mandatory and statutory training programme 
• Governing Body development sessions 
• The building of a counter fraud culture 

 
The CCG considered that it had an effective risk management approach in place as 
demonstrated by the risk management arrangements set out below.  
 
The risk management framework sets out how risk management will be implemented 
throughout the organisation to support the realisation of the strategic objectives.  
This includes the processes and procedures adopted by the CCG to identify, assess 
and appropriately manage risks and detailed roles and responsibilities for risk 
management.    
 
The CCG employs a standardised methodology in the application of risk grading 
criteria, which helps to ensure a consistent approach to the prioritisation of risks and 
the effective targeting of resources.  As a result risk management is an important 
element of the CCG’s business planning processes. 
 
The Risk Management Policy - CCG CO14 V3 was initially approved by JLEB in 
April 2013, and was subject to review in September 2013, November 2014, February 
2015 and July 2016.  The risk management policy outlines: 
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• The roles and responsibilities of the Governing Body, committees and JLEB in 
respect of risk management 

• The roles and responsibilities of officers for elements of risk management 
• Access to specialist advice 
• The risk management process in place within the CCG including the 

systematic identification, assessment, evaluation and control of risks via 
mechanisms such as the assurance framework and the corporate risk register 

• A description of risk management terms to ensure common understanding 
and full guidance on the risk analysis matrix for the grading of risk for priority  

 
Risk (and change in risk) identification is achieved primarily through the following 
processes: 
 

• Clinical and non-clinical risk assessment 
• Complaints management 
• Claims management 
• Performance and finance and contracting monitoring and reports 
• Incident reporting including serious and untoward incidents 
• Audits (both internal and those carried out by external bodies) 

 
Capacity to Handle Risk  
 
The CCG receives regular updates on risk management arrangements.  The 
corporate risk register was reviewed at the following committees/group during 
2016/17: 
 
  
JLEB 22 June 2016, 28 September 2016, 22 

February 2017 
Audit Committee 24 November 2016 
Governance Group 4 May 2016, 19 July 2016, 20 October 

2016, 13 February 2017 
 
The CCG has delegated responsibility for risk assurance to its JLEB.  JLEB is 
responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls and is required to 
produce statements of assurance around the management of risks, demonstrating 
that it organises the affairs of the organisation efficiently and effectively.  JLEB is 
supported in this by several committees and groups, including the Audit Committee, 
Governance Group, Quality Intelligence Group and the Medicines Optimisation 
Group.  
 
JLEB has overall responsibility for ensuring that robust systems are in place to 
manage risks and governance issues, including determining policy and reviewing the 
assurance framework and corporate risk register quarterly. 
 
The Audit Committee provides independent oversight of internal control 
arrangements in place within the CCG and has delegated responsibility from the 
Governing Body to ensure that the systems, policies and people are operating in a 
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way that is effective, focussed on key risks and driving the objectives of the statutory 
organisation. 
 
The CCG endeavours to reduce risks to the lowest possible level reasonably 
practicable.  Where risks cannot reasonably be avoided, every effort will be made to 
mitigate the remaining risk.  However there is the recognition that an understanding 
of the CCG’s ‘risk appetite’, will ensure the CCG supports a varied and diverse 
approach to commissioning, particularly for practices to work proactively to improve 
efficiency and value.    
 
The risk appetite of the CCG is specifically addressed in the Risk Management 
Policy. It is acknowledged that the majority of the executive are from a clinical 
background and, as clinicians, are used to the assessment and acceptance of risk.  
This was felt to impact on the organisation’s tolerance to risk and therefore the 
executive agreed that the current matrix was valid and accurately reflected the 
appetite of the CCG.  Any risk with an overall risk rating of 12 or above included in 
the operational risk register is reported to JLEB quarterly. The risk matrix, as detailed 
in the approved Risk Management Policy is shown below: 
 
Risk assessment matrix 
 
Scoring = Consequence x Likelihood (C x L)  
 
 Likelihood score 
Consequence 
score  1  2  3  4  5  

 Rare  Unlikely  Possible  Likely  Almost 
certain  

5 
Catastrophic  5  10  15  20  25  

4 Major  4  8  12  16  20  
3 Moderate  3  6  9  12  15  
2 Minor  2  4  6  8  10  
1 Negligible  1  2  3  4  5  
 
 
The JLEB set boundaries to guide staff on the limits of risk they are able to accept in 
the pursuit of achieving its organisational objectives.   
 
The JLEB sets these limits based on whether the risk is: 
 

• A threat: the level of exposure which is considered acceptable 
• An opportunity: what the JLEB is prepared to put ‘at risk’ in order to 

encourage innovation in creating changes 
 
The two main features of the risk management process are the assurance 
framework and risk registers. The CCG has adopted a bottom up approach to the 
generation of its risk registers.  The purpose is to ensure that risks are identified and 
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managed at the appropriate level and to provide a mechanism of escalation through 
the tiers that alerts the Audit Committee and the JLEB to extreme and high risks. 
 
During 2016/17 an assurance framework has been in place, and this has been 
monitored by the relevant governance committees. The assurance framework and 
the corporate risk register for 2016/17 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, 
JLEB and the Governance Group. The assurance framework covers all of the CCG’s 
main activities including financial, clinical and organisational activities and identifies 
the principal objectives and targets that the organisation is striving to achieve and 
the risks to the achievement of these targets. The framework identifies actions that 
need to be taken to address gaps in control and assurance and a small number have 
been identified. Each action has an identified lead and is monitored throughout the 
year by the JLEB.  
 
The CCG recognises that for any risk management strategy to work, potential and 
actual risks and incidents must be reported and action taken to prevent a recurrence. 
The Incident Reporting and Management Policy - CCG CO08 V2 March 2015 covers 
the reporting of all types of incidents, including near misses. Reporting of near 
misses where there has been no actual injury or loss may enable appropriate action 
to be taken to prevent future incidents. 
 
The CCG has a responsibility for managing risks identified in the commissioning 
process to ensure the quality of the services it commissions is safe and of a high 
standard.  The CCG has a responsibility to ensure their contractors have effective 
systems in place to identify and manage risks and incidents and support them in the 
development of these where necessary.  The CCG acts as a conduit for information 
about such risks and incidents, to ensure that the learning (and the opportunities for 
risk reduction) from them is not lost within the CCG or the wider NHS.   
 
The CCG has an open and non-judgmental approach to the reporting of adverse 
incidents and encourages everyone within the organisation to contribute to the 
reporting and learning process.  The processes and procedures in the incident 
reporting and management policy are not designed to apportion blame, but focus on 
understanding the root cause of errors and learning from them to avoid a further 
reoccurrence. 
 
To help monitor and manage risks and incidents, the CCG has adopted the 
Safeguard Incident and Risk Management software system (SIRMS), which is 
compliant with the National Patient Safety Agency, National Reporting and Learning 
System and the NHS Security Management Services’ Security Incident Management 
System.  
 
Risk Assessment  
 
The CCG has adopted a standardised framework for the assessment and analysis of 
all risks encountered in the organisation and which is set out in the Risk 
Management Policy.  Throughout the year the CCG identified and managed a range 
of risks, both strategic and operational. 
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Reports to the committees/groups of the CCG also included information on new and 
emerging risks.  The risk register and assurance framework will continue to be 
reviewed at the bi-monthly meetings of the Governance Group, on a quarterly basis 
by the JLEB as well as Audit Committee meetings. 
 
Each of the risks has a review date which has been set at a maximum of quarterly 
and the Safeguard Incident and Risk Management System (SIRMS) was used to 
monitor that the reviews and any planned actions had been completed in accordance 
with set timescales. 
 
The high risks initially identified at the start of the financial year and 
considered by JLEB and Audit Committee are: 
 
Financial balance 
 
The CCG’s medium term financial plan could be adversely affected by contract 
performance leading to a failure to achieve financial balance and a breach of 
statutory duty.  This would result in reduced funds for future improvements to patient 
outcomes and NHS England revoking the CCG’s commissioning authority.  The risk 
is mitigated by a comprehensive system of financial controls and detailed financial 
reviews being undertaken on a monthly basis and reported to both JLEB and 
subsequently, on a bi-monthly basis, to the Resource and Performance Committee.  
Regular external assurance meetings also take place with NHS England, alongside 
monthly financial recovery meetings. 
 
Emergency care 
 
A lack of robust planning for surges in demand for frontline services throughout the 
year could mean that urgent and emergency care pressures increase, resulting in 
rises in A&E activity and multiple demands on ambulance, community, acute and 
primary care services.  This could lead to insufficient resource being available, 
potentially resulting in increased CCG costs due to duplication of service delivery 
and insufficient capacity to meet demand and an inability to meet national targets. 
 
The risk is mitigated by A&E Delivery Board monitoring the issues and delivering a 
whole system approach to local resilience and capacity planning. The annual 
reporting cycle to the Resources and Performance Committee confirms all actions 
and plans are effective and reporting the assurance level from NHS England. 
 
Contract over performance 
 
There is a risk of over activity, beyond the CCG’s control, on acute/secondary care 
contracts which could ultimately lead to the provision of inadequate patient care 
pathways which would necessitate corrective action being taken.  This would result 
in increased CCG financial pressure and reputational damage to the CCG. 
 
This risk is mitigated by the monthly monitoring of contracts and escalation with 
providers as required in accordance with the agreed timetable.  Signed service level 
agreements which specify finance and activity plans are in place with all providers.  
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Monthly monitoring methods have been set up including the 14 working day 
meetings which look at activity planning assumptions, and analysis of all contracts. 
 
Commissioning support services 
 
There is a risk that NECS fail to deliver business critical support services or that 
inadequate Key Performance Indicators fail to identify problem areas.  This could 
impact on the CCG’s ability to deliver against its corporate objectives if additional 
tasking is required by the CCG workforce.  This could result in reputational damage 
to the CCG and higher absence levels leading to increased financial pressure of 
employing additional agency staff. 
 
This risk is mitigated by the signed service level agreement in place between the 
CCG and NECS with monthly review meetings being held.  Key performance 
indicators are in place which are routinely reported and reviewed at each monthly 
SLA review.   
 
Continuing healthcare activity 
 
High continuing healthcare (CHC) activity and cost may impact on the ability of the 
CCG to deliver its operational plan for 2016/17; quality and safety of services 
delivered could result in patients not receiving services they need; timeliness of the 
assessment process could result in gaps in service delivery to patients as well as 
restitution being due.  To mitigate the risks a formal partnership agreement is in 
place between the CCG and the local authority, a fixed budget has been allocated, 
nursing care assessment teams undertake the review of all potential CHC patients, 
and announced and unannounced visits to providers are undertaken.  Complaints 
and incident data is reviewed by the Quality Intelligence Group and CHC panels 
review assessments.  The partnership is monitored through regular meetings 
between both parties, which consider a range of quality indicators and financial 
measures.  Progress is reported to JLEB and the Resource and Performance 
Committee. 
 
Primary Care Delegated Commissioning 
 
There is a risk that workforce shortages and increasing demand combine at practice 
level and result in practice closures, patients being dispersed and additional 
pressures being experienced by other practices.  This could lead to an unsustainable 
number of practice closures and ultimately an inability to deliver primary care at 
scale in Northumberland.  This could affect the quality of patient care, with additional 
pressures being experienced across the wider health economy and the associated 
reputational damage to the CCG. 
 
This risk is mitigated by the capacity and demand work undertaken under the PACS 
work to both extend access to primary care services and release valuable GP 
resource to better cope with current demand.  The Primary Care Leadership Group 
meet monthly to discuss workforce issues and take corrective action as deemed 
necessary.   
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Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
 
Due to a supreme court ruling that has significantly lowered the threshold for 
deprivation of liberty there is a risk that many people who now receive health funded 
care at home will need authorisation from the Court of Protection which the CCG are 
required to consider.  This could lead to a risk of legal challenge resulting in both 
reputational and financial damage to the CCG. 
 
This risk is mitigated by the training package developed to raise staff awareness of 
the Supreme Court Ruling implications.  The CHC team have worked to identify 
potential cases of deprivation of liberty that need authorisation from the Court of 
Protection, and will review care packages funded for patients within their own 
homes, independent supported living or foster/adult placements. 
 
Safeguarding 
 
Where good clinical practice, policies and procedures in relation to safeguarding are 
not followed and there is ineffective multi-disciplinary and multi-agency working, 
there is a risk that the CCG will suffer adverse publicity and/or litigation and it may 
result in non-compliance with statutory regulations.  This may also be the case if 
there was a failure to implement recommendations from case reviews.  The CCG 
has robust safeguarding measures in place including appropriate policies and 
procedures.  The CCG has dedicated resource in place for both adult and children’s 
safeguarding work. 
 
Achievement of nationally and locally agreed outcomes 
 
Providers may fail to meet their key patient outcomes compromising patient care.  
These risks are mitigated by having signed contracts in place with all providers and 
monitoring of such contracts, are team quarterly assurance meetings, quality review 
groups in place and monitoring of quality of service in key providers.  A regional 
escalation process is in place if required where outcomes are not being met. 
 
Cost effective, high quality and safe prescribing 
 
There is a risk that poor quality prescribing or drug shortages could lead to patient 
safety and experience issues and unnecessary prescribing costs.  Imposed drug 
tariff changes could lead to unsustainable cost growth.  To mitigate these risks, a 
Medicines Optimisation Group led by a GP clinical lead, supported by senior 
pharmacists with links to the Local Pharmaceutical Committee and commissioning 
support is in place.  The CCG has put in place a number of initiatives to reduce the 
likelihood of the risk including development of a practice medicines management 
service to ensure high quality and cost effective prescribing, a prescribing waste 
reduction scheme and carrying our pharmacy led medication reviews.  Although a 
number of controls are in place this remains a significantly high risk to the 
organisation because of the forecast cost growth in prescribing. 
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Northumbria Specialist Emergency Care Hospital (NSECH) 
 
There is a risk that the financial model underpinning NSECH becomes unsustainable 
for NHCFT.  This could result in a financial pressure on the CCG and a risk to 
service delivery resulting in reputational damage and failure to achieve financial 
balance.  To mitigate these risks, monthly monitoring of NSECH performance and 
activity takes place.  NECS provide detailed analysis and variations in patient trends 
from the impact of the opening of NSECH so that actions can be taken to ensure 
NSECH activity remains sustainable within the financial resources available. 
 
North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) 
 
There is a risk that NEAS contract under performance and the impact of increased 
activity on the Patient Transport Service associated with seven day working will lead 
to a failure to deliver key outcomes which would result in patient care being 
compromised.  To mitigate this risk the CCG, together with its key partners 
undertook an assessment of the impact of the new specialist emergency hospital on 
the local health economy.  As a result the Emergency Care Improvement 
Programme was commissioned and reported to NEAS, NHCFT and the CCG.  The 
resultant comprehensive action plan will be monitored to conclusion. 
 
Accountable Care Organisation  
 
There is a risk that the CCG will fail to appropriately engage member practices 
during the development of the ACO leading to practices being provided insufficient 
information on which to make an informed decision.  This could ultimately lead to an 
ACO mandate not being achieved and consequently the potential failure to deliver 
the full effects of PACS which would result in reputational damage to the CCG.  To 
mitigate this risk the CCG has worked very closely with the Local Medical Committee 
to ensure that member practices fully understand the potential impact on them as 
providers.  The CCG has also ensured that JLEB, member and locality meetings 
have been kept fully informed of ACO developments throughout the year.   
 
The high risks that emerged during the year and were considered by the 
JLEB and Audit Committee are: 
 
Strategic Commissioning 
 
There is a risk that the revised CCG strategic commissioning governance structure 
lacks the robustness required to effectively monitor and challenge the operational 
business of the Accountable Care Organisation (ACO).  This could mean that the 
CCG is unable to exercise the full range of its statutory functions and monitor the 
long term health and wellbeing outcomes it set the ACO.  The ACO full business 
case to be submitted to NHS England, will articulate the requirement for a robust 
CCG structure. 
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Accountable Care Organisation 
 
There is a risk that the transfer of designated responsibilities to the ACO is not 
supported by a comprehensive transition plan.  This could result in periods of 
uncertainty for CCG and NHCFT staff, disengagement of CCG member practices 
and an inability to conduct areas of normal CCG business effectively.  To mitigate 
this risk, an ACO transition plan has been developed, and reported to JLEB, 
Governing Body and the ACO Programme Board.  Due to its importance a separate 
risk register has been developed for ACO development and has been used to 
informed the ACO business case. 
 
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
 
There is a risk that the lack of a comprehensive QIPP or a failure to ensure that there 
are appropriate monitoring and delivery mechanisms will lead to the 2016/17 QIPP 
target not being achieved.  The CCG has attempted to mitigate this risk by close 
monitoring of the QIPP tracker. 
 
RightCare Programme 
 
There is a risk that the financial and outcome opportunities identified by RightCare 
are not delivered.  This would result in possible contract over-performance and the 
continued variation from national benchmarking leading to sub-optimal patient 
treatment levels.  To mitigate this a comprehensive RightCare programme has been 
developed. 
 
Maternity staff shortages at NSECH and Maternity Led Units (MLU) 
 
High levels of sickness and vacancy at NSECH maternity services have resulted in a 
large number of unfilled shifts and the inability to meet increasing demands.  
Ongoing recruitment issues at MLUs have impacted on the ability to release 
midwives onto the rotation programme to NSECH to keep up skills and 
competencies and maintain the current level of service.  The trust has put in place a 
maternity escalation plan to use if there is an increase in demand or staffing issues.  
Actions are in place to mitigate the risk by drawing in staff from midwifery 
management and specialist midwifery posts to support the unit and ensure safe 
standards of care are maintained. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
There is a risk that the revised CCG strategic commissioning governance structure 
(which includes a number of shared roles between the CCG and the local authority) 
will result in additional conflicts of interest being declared.  This would result in the 
CCG’s decision making process being adversely affected.  To mitigate this risk, the 
CCG policy for standards of business conduct and declarations of interest is followed 
by all staff.  A six monthly report on the register of declarations of interest is 
discussed at Audit Committee, and there are annual internal audits on conflicts of 
interest. 
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Other sources of assurance  
 
Internal Control Framework 
 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 
 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal control has been in place in the 
CCG for the year ending 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the Annual 
Report and Accounts. 
 
The CCG is satisfied that it has a robust internal control framework.  It has an 
established assurance framework which provides the mechanism to monitor risks, 
controls, and the outputs of its assurances processes and provides reasonable 
assurance there is an effective system of internal control to manage principal risks to 
achieving the CCG’s objectives.  This has been in place throughout the year and has 
been reviewed by the Audit Committee, JLEB and Governing Body. 
 
The system of internal control is underpinned by the existence of a number of 
individual controls that are in place: 
 

• Senior management/executive review 
• Policies and procedures covering important activities 
• Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of Delegation 
• The checks and balances inherent in internal and external audit reviews 
• JLEB and Governing Body oversight 

 
In addition to management processes the CCG participates in the assurance 
process undertaken by NHS England; the outcome reports from these are presented 
to JLEB and the Governing Body. 
 
The CCG has an internal audit function which has been in place throughout 2016/17.  
An internal audit plan was drawn up and approved by the Audit Committee prior to 
the start of the financial year in March 2016.    
 
Robust anti-fraud arrangements are in place within the CCG.  An anti-fraud, bribery 
and corruption policy was approved by the JLEB in August 2013 and subsequently 
reviewed during 2014, 2015 and 2016.  This provides a framework for responding to 
suspicions of fraud, bribery and corruption, advice and information on various 
aspects of fraud, bribery and corruption and implications of an investigation.  An anti-
fraud plan for 2016/17, which is aligned to fraud, bribery and corruption standards, 
was approved by the Audit Committee in July 2016.  Progress against the plan has 
been reported during the year to the Audit Committee.  Anti-fraud awareness training 
has been delivered to staff and members of the Governing Body and publicity 
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material has been made available in practices. No proven issues of fraud have been 
identified during the period April 2016 to the date of signing of this statement. 
 
The Whistleblowing Policy is closely aligned to the Anti-Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption Policy and outlines to staff in the CCG how and to whom they should 
report suspicions of fraud.  These policies are regularly reviewed by the Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist and their effectiveness is reported to Audit Committee on 
an annual basis. 
 
The CCG has a Standards of Business Conduct Policy which was approved by JLEB 
in March 2015 and revised and approved in 2016. The policy forms part of the 
CCG’s corporate governance framework, which requires it to issue guidance to 
members, officers and employees on the acceptance of gifts/hospitality and the 
declaration of interests.  The CCG is committed to ensuring the highest standards of 
professional and ethical conduct and this policy is intended to enable these 
standards to be met.  This policy enables the CCG to comply with the Standards of 
business conduct for NHS staff, Health service guidelines HSG (93)5, 1993, the 
Prevention of Corruption Acts 1906 and 1916, the Bribery Act 2010 and the Seven 
Principles of Public Life (The Nolan Principles). 
 
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  
 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 
England has published a template audit framework.  
 
The CCG has carried out an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest.  The 
outcome is an assurance rating of ‘good’.  The key areas identified as requiring 
improvement were: 
 

• For the conflicts of interest register to include the date it was updated, the 
dates of individual declarations, the type of interest declared, the date from 
which the interest relates to and whether it is ongoing and how any potential 
conflict will be mitigated 

• To formally document the check of potential conflicts of interest on agenda 
items prior to papers being sent out 

• A CCG Officer, who commenced with the CCG in September 2016 and 
signed the declarations of interest form on 5 October 2016, did not appear on 
the Conflicts of Interest Register until February 2017. 

 
Data Quality 
 
The CCG has a Data Quality Policy - CCG IG02, which was initially approved by the 
JLEB in January 2013 and was subject to review during 2014, 2015 and 2016.  The 
CCG recognises that all of their decisions, whether healthcare, managerial or 
financial, need to be based on information which is of the highest quality.  Data 
quality is crucial and the availability of complete, accurate, relevant and timely data is 
important in supporting patient/service user care, governance, management and 
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service agreements for healthcare planning and accountability.  The Governing Body 
and member practices are satisfied with the quality of data used to inform decision 
making and planning to deliver the commissioning agenda and to ensure the CCG 
meets its statutory requirements.  
 
Information Governance 
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to 
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and 
effectively. 
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  
We have established an information governance management framework and are 
developing information governance processes and procedures in line with the 
information governance toolkit.  We have ensured all staff undertake annual 
information governance training and have implemented a staff information 
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance 
roles and responsibilities. 
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents.  We are developing information risk assessment and management 
procedures and a programme will be established to fully embed an information risk 
culture throughout the organisation against identified risks. 
 
The Information Governance agenda is considered at the Governance Group which 
reports to the JLEB. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian and Senior 
Information Risk Owner. 
 
The CCG has published the Health and Social Care Information Centre’s (HSCIC) 
Information Governance Toolkit and has self-assessed as being ‘Level 2’ overall 
compliant’, which confirms the organisation’s rating as overall ‘satisfactory’ in this 
regard.   
 
NECS, as the provider of IT services to the CCG, has a range of controls in place.  
Control objectives include: physical access, logical access, segregation of duties, 
data transmissions, data centre environmental controls, IT processing, data integrity 
and backups, change management procedures, network security measures, data 
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migration, problem and incident resolution, system recovery and disaster recovery.  
Assurance on the effectiveness of these controls is provided to the CCG through the 
ISAE 3204 report from NECS’ internal auditors Deloitte LLP. 
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and this is reported to and 
monitored by the Governance Group as part of the governance assurance report 
provided by NECS.  The Quality Intelligence Group has a specific remit to investigate 
serious incidents and monitor completion of the subsequent action plans.  We are 
developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a 
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout 
the organisation. 
 
Business Critical Models 
 
I can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide 
quality assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the 
Macpherson report. 
 
I can confirm that all business critical models have been identified and that 
information about quality assurance processes for those models has been provided 
to the Analytical Oversight Committee, chaired by the Chief Analyst in the 
Department of Health. 
  
The CCG has a Business Continuity Management Plan, approved by the JLEB in 
December 2013 and reviewed in 2014, 2015 and 2016.  
 
Delegation of functions 
 
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the 
provision of back office services and functions.  These include: 
 

• The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support 
from NHS Shared Business Services (SBS).  The use of SBS is mandated by 
NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in producing NHS England 
group financial accounts through the use of an integrated financial ledger 
system 

• The provision of core business services from the North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) 

• The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

• The provision of the Electronic Staff Record (ESR) payroll systems support 
from McKesson 

• The provision of prescribing spend reporting by NHS Business Services 
Authority (BSA) 

• The provision of Primary Care Support England (PCSE), Capita Business 
Services Limited 

 
Assurances on the effectiveness of the controls in place for the above are received 
in part from an annual Service Audit Report from the relevant service providers as 
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well as additional testing of controls that has been undertaken by the CCG’s internal 
auditors.   
 
Assurances received for these services are as follows:  
 
NHS Shared Business Services (SBS) 
 
Assurances on NHS SBS are provided by their internal auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.  The opinion provided in their independent service 
auditor’s report is: 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects, based on the criteria described in the Service 
Organisation’s management statement in section I: 
 

• The description in sections III and IV fairly presents the Service Finance & 
Accounting Services as designed and implemented throughout the period 
from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 

• The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control 
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively 
throughout the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 and customers 
applied the complementary user entity controls referred to in the scope 
paragraph of this assurance report; and 

• The controls tested which, together with the complementary user entity 
controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if 
operating effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance 
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 
effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 

 
North of England Commissioning Support Service  
 
The CCG has outsourced a range of support services to the NECS, hosted by NHS 
England.  Assurances on the operation of these services during 2016/17 are 
provided by NHS England’s internal auditors, Deloitte LLP, via means of two IASE 
3402 reports covering the period 1 March 2016 to 31 August 2016, 1 September 
2016 to 28 February 2017 and a bridge letter covering the period 1 March 2017 to 31 
March 2017. There were some minor weaknesses in the operation of some controls 
identified in the first and second reports. 
 
Assurances have been received that actions have been taken to address these 
minor weaknesses or an action plan is in place to ensure they have been addressed. 
 
The opinion provided by Deloitte in their independent auditor’s report is: 
 

• The description fairly presents the service organisation activities that were 
designed and implemented throughout the period from 1 September 2016 to 
28 February 2017  

• The controls related to the control objectives were suitably designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be 
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achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the period 
from 1 September 2016 to 28 February 2017; and  

• The controls that we tested were operating with sufficient effectiveness to 
provide reasonable assurance that the related control objectives stated in the 
description were achieved throughout the period 

 
Payroll 
 
The payroll assurance letter for 2015/16 reports substantial assurance. 

ESR 
 
Assurances on ESR are provided by their internal auditors, 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP.  The opinion provided in their independent services 
auditor’s report is: 
 
“In our opinion, in all material respects, based on the criteria including the control 
objectives described in the NHS ESR Programme’s and the sub service provider 
(IBM’s) statements in Section 3: 
 

• The description in Sections 2, 5 and 6 fairly presents the IT general controls 
for the Electronic Staff Record (ESR) service that were designed and 
implemented throughout the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 

• The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control 
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively 
throughout the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 and customers 
applied the complementary customer controls referred to in the scope 
paragraph of this report 

• The controls tested, which together with the complementary customer controls 
referred to in the scope paragraph of this report, if operating effectively, were 
those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives 
stated in the description were achieved, operated effectively throughout the 
period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017” 

 
NHS Business Services Authority (BSA) 
 
BSA assurances were provided by NHS BSA:  Prescriptions Payments Process 
report for 2015/16, which stated:   
 
“In our opinion, in all material respects, based on the criteria described in the Service 
Organisation’s and the included Subservice Organisation’s management statements 
on pages 4 to 8: 
 

• The description on pages 13 to 28 fairly presents the Service Organisation’s 
and the included Subservice Organisation’s prescription payment processes 
as designed and implemented throughout the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 
March 2017 
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• The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control 
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively 
throughout the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 and customers 
applied the complementary user entity controls referred to in the scope 
paragraph of this assurance report; and 

• The controls tested which, together with the complementary user entity 
controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if 
operating effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance 
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 
effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017” 

 
Primary Care Support England, Capita Services Limited 
 
Assurances on Primary Care Support England, Capita Services Limited, were 
provided by KPMG LLP.  KPMG LLP issued an Adverse Opinion and the main 
control issues noted were:  
 

• The absence of documented authorised persons lists to enable verification of 
the requests for GP, Ophthalmic and Pharmacy payments 

• The absence of reconciliation and monitoring controls to verify the 
completeness and accuracy of the recording process over cheques received 
in relation to pension contributions and to verify the completeness and 
accuracy of the claim forms and vouchers used to support Ophthalmic 
payments 

• The absence of formal procedures and/or documented evidence to 
demonstrate controls over user access to the in-scope systems (NHAIS, Open 
Exeter, Ophthalmic system, ISFE, NHS BSA website and NHS Pensions 
Online) and 

• The pervasive lack of formal documentation and audit trails to evidence the 
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls across the in 
scope processes at each of the four sites 

 
The CCG was, however, assured by its external auditors undertaking a more 
comprehensive audit test programme in this respect and by the compensating 
controls the CCG has in place. 
 
Control Issues 
 
The CCG has been subject to directions from NHS England issued under Section 
14Z21 of the National Health Service Action 2006 since 1 September 2016.  The key 
elements of the directions, and the actions taken in response, are outlined below.  
The CCG was required to: 
 

• Develop an improvement plan to include recommendations by the internal 
review commissioned by NHS England - A comprehensive improvement plan 
was initially submitted to NHS England but this has been overtaken by ACO 
development work.  Capacity has been increased by Governing Body 
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members now attending the Joint Locality Executive Board and additional 
resource being sought on a temporary basis in key areas of CCG operations. 

• Develop and implement a credible financial recovery plan.  The improvement 
plan submitted to NHS England included a detailed financial recovery plan for 
2016/17.  Work continued throughout 2016/17 on CCG specific areas but 
system-wide efficiencies remained subject to the ACO development work. 

• Ensure that a fully established and appropriately resourced programme 
management office (PMO) to ensure appropriate financial management 
capacity and the ability to deliver the requirements of the directions.  A 
turnaround Director and an external PMO were appointed in July 2016 to 
assist with the early development of the improvement plan.  The external 
resources left the CCG at the end of 2016 and the PMO function is now 
delivered using internal resource. 

• Notify NHS England of any need to make executive appointments or the next 
tier of CCG management appointments.  All such appointments have been 
subject to NHS England’s approval of the recruitment process.       

 
Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of 
resources 
  
The CCG has delegated approval of a comprehensive system of internal control, 
including budgetary control that underpins the effective, efficient and economic 
operation of the CCG, to the Governing Body.  The Accountable Officer is held to 
account for ensuring that the CCG discharges this duty and provides assurance to 
the Governing Body.  The Governing Body in providing assurance that the CCG is 
acting consistently with this duty is supported by the following committees: 
 

Audit Committee – Provides the Governing Body with an independent and 
objective view of the CCG’s financial systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the CCG in so far as 
they relate to finance.  The internal audit service further supports the audit 
committee by evaluating and reporting on the effectiveness and adherence to the 
systems of internal controls that the CCG has in place. 
  
Appointments and Remuneration Committee – Makes recommendations to the 
Governing Body on determinations about the remuneration, fees and other 
allowances for employees and for people who provide services to the CCG and on 
determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the CCG may 
establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. 
 
Resources and Performance Committee – Provides assurance to the 
Governing Body in relation to the CCG’s duty to exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically, and in relation to the CCG’s performance.    
 
Engagement, Public Health and Quality Committee – Provides assurance to 
the Governing Body in relation to the CCG’s duty to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically, in relation to the quality of the services it 
commissions. 
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Delivery of the financial plan has been delegated by the JLEB to the Chief Finance 
Officer, who is the Governing Body’s professional expert on finance and ensures, 
through robust systems and processes, the regularity and propriety of expenditure is 
fully discharged.   
 
The Chief Finance Officer is also responsible for: 
 

• Making arrangements to support, monitor and report on the CCG’s finances 
• Overseeing robust audit and governance arrangements leading to propriety in 

the use of CCG resources 
• Advising the Governing Body on the effective, efficient and economic use of 

its allocation to remain within that allocation and deliver required financial 
targets and duties 

• Producing the financial statements for audit and publication in accordance 
with statutory requirements to demonstrate effective stewardship of public 
money and accountability to tax payers 

• Overseeing all financial systems and internal controls, including the 
development and modification of accounting systems 

• Maintaining relationships with external professional advisors 
• Managing relationships with internal and external audit functions and playing 

a leading role in liaison with any regulatory bodies 
 
The CCG has a responsibility to ensure its expenditure does not exceed the 
aggregate of its allotments for the financial year.  This responsibility has been 
delegated to the JLEB who approve the rolling three year financial plan, setting out 
the deployment of resources within allocations and the approach to delivery and risk 
mitigation.  The JLEB also approves and reviews the CCG’s Scheme of Delegation 
and Standing Financial Instructions (SFIs).  The JLEB is held to account for the 
monitoring and overall delivery of financial performance and compliance with SFIs.   
 
The duty to ensure expenditure did not exceed income was the greatest risk 
experienced by the CCG in 2016/17.  In 2015/16 a £10.7m (restated) deficit was 
recorded.  In 2016/17 the closing position was a cumulative deficit of £40.5m, 
despite close monitoring and measures to manage financial pressures.  The CCG 
fully recognises its financial position for 2016/17 and understands the need to deliver 
a financially sustainable healthcare system for 2017/18 and beyond.   
 
Achievement of its financial duties remains a significant risk for the CCG.  A financial 
recovery plan and associated project management office arrangement are being 
jointly developed with NHCFT as part of the creation of the ACO.  However these 
arrangements are not yet fully in place.  Public sector bodies are assumed to be a 
going concern where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is 
fully anticipated, as evidenced by the inclusion of financial provision for that service 
in public documents.  The financial allocations for 2017/18 have been approved by 
parliament and there is no reason to believe that future approvals will not be 
forthcoming. 
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Quality of Leadership 
 
NHS England has a statutory duty to conduct an annual assessment of every CCG 
which is based on the Improvement and Assessment Framework outlined on page 
14.  As part of this comprehensive assurance process the CCG has been required to 
self-assess its leadership each quarter under the following headings:  
 

• Robust Culture and leadership sustainability 
• Quality 
• Governance 
• Engagement and Involvement 

The self-assessment is ‘RAG’ rated (red, amber, green).  The CCG rated itself green 
for 11 out of the 14 indicators however it recognised that the issues experienced in 
2016/17 and outlined in NHS England’s Directions and the remaining three were 
rated amber.  The following NHS England assessment table applies.   

 Green star As for ‘green’ but the CCG is considered to be very good with practice that 
could be replicated as an exemplar.  

Green CCG has no issues with its leadership or minor/low risk issues.  
Amber More serious weaknesses have been identified.  
Red There is significant failure to meet requirements.  

 

Reflecting the financial situation experienced in 2016/17, the CCG was rated ‘Amber’ 
overall at the mid-year point by NHS England.   The end of year results for the 
Quality of Leadership Indicator will be available from July 2017 
at www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175. 

 
Counter fraud arrangements 
 
Our counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s 
financial viability and probity.  An annual counter fraud plan is agreed by the Audit 
Committee, which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation 
of fraud. 
 
Through our contract with Audit One, we have counter fraud arrangements in place 
that comply with the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption. 
 

• An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter 
fraud work proportionate to identified risks 

• The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the Standards 
for Commissioners at least annually.  There is executive support and direction 
for a proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks. 

• A member of the governing body is proactively and demonstrably responsible 
for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption 
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• Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality assurance 
recommendations 

 
There were no reported incidents of fraud during 2016-17. 
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning 
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of 
Internal Audit concluded that: 
 
Overall opinion - From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing 
substantial assurance that the system of internal control has been effectively 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are being 
consistently applied. 
 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of 
risk 

2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit 
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses 

3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit findings, and 
5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit 

 
Conclusion 
 
During the year, Internal Audit did not issue any audit reports which identified 
governance, risk management and/or control issues which were significant to the 
organisation. 
 
Now in our fourth year of full CCG operations, I consider that the internal control 
structure is fully embedded in CCG daily business and has done much to ensure that 
we have achieved our overarching aims and objectives.  This has been evidenced by 
our successful Internal Audit outcomes throughout 2016/17. 
 
Notwithstanding, there remains no room for complacency and, although my review 
confirms that we are fully compliant in this area, I will ensure that CCG governance 
continues to react swiftly to future policy changes and embeds an ethos of 
continuous improvement where possible. 
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During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  
 
Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given  
Assurance Framework Substantial Assurance 
Risk Management and Governance 
Arrangements 

Substantial Assurance 

Strategic Planning Substantial Assurance 
Non-Financial Performance 
Management 

Substantial Assurance 

Conflicts of Interest Good Assurance 
Contract Monitoring Substantial Assurance 
Information Governance Toolkit Substantial Assurance 
Key Financial Controls Substantial Assurance 
Clinical Engagement Substantial Assurance 
Quality Improvement Substantial Assurance 
Medicines Management Substantial Assurance 
Safeguarding Adults Substantial Assurance 
Safeguarding Children Substantial Assurance 
Serious Incidents Substantial Assurance 
Business Continuity and Emergency 
Planning 

Substantial Assurance 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Substantial Assurance 
Primary Care Commissioning Substantial Assurance 
Patient Experience Substantial Assurance 
Delivery Against SLAs Substantial Assurance 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk 
management and internal control 
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical 
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance 
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available 
to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in 
their annual audit letter and other reports.  
 
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its 
principles objectives have been reviewed.  
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  
 

• The board 
• The audit committee 
• The governance group 
• Internal audit 
• Other explicit review/assurance mechanisms.  

 
The following arrangements highlight how the JLEB assures itself that the system of 
internal control is effective. 
 
The Joint Locality Executive Board  
 
Board agendas during the year were structured around the key risks and issues. The 
Board has reviewed the governance framework to ensure it is fit for purpose and 
approved a new framework, Committee and Sub-committee structures and refreshed 
and enhanced Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of 
Delegation. 
 
The Audit Committee  
 
The Annual Internal Audit Plan, as approved by the Audit Committee, enables the 
Board to be reassured that key internal financial controls and other matters relating 
to risk are regularly reviewed. The Committee has reviewed internal and external 
audit reports, and reviewed progress on meeting the requirements of the assurance 
framework.  
 
The Chief Operating Officer 
 
The Chief Operating Officer (COO) is the executive lead for risk management and 
governance.  The COO is a member of the JLEB and the Governing Body and 
attends the Appointments and Remuneration Committee. 
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The Director of Nursing, Quality and Patient Safety 
 
The Director of Nursing, Quality and Patient Safety is the executive lead director for 
clinical governance and quality and is a member of the JLEB and attends the 
Engagement, Public Health and Quality Committee and Chairs the Quality 
Intelligence Group.  
 
The Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs 
 
The Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs leads on the implementation of corporate 
governance and risk assurance systems across the CCG and the management of 
risk associated with corporate governance, information requests and business 
continuity.  The Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs attends the JLEB, Governing 
Body, Audit Committee, Resources and Performance Committee, the Engagement, 
Public Health and Quality Committee, is a member of the Quality Intelligence Group 
and the Chairs the Governance Group.  
 
Internal Audit 
 
During the year the CCG used Audit One as providers of internal audit services. The 
contract and associated internal audit plan specify that the delivery of the internal 
audit function will continue to be in compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards.  
  
Some of the key areas included in the internal audit plan were around risk 
management arrangements, governance structures, patient and public and clinical 
engagement, partnership arrangements, commissioning arrangements and 
performance management.  All planned audits were completed to time. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The system of control described in this report has been in place in the CCG for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of the approval of the annual report 
and accounts. 
 
The work undertaken in 2016/17 across the range of assurance providers to the 
CCG has shown that: 
 

• The CCG recorded a cumulative deficit of £40.5m.  The CCG therefore failed 
to meet its statutory duty to ensure expenditure does not exceed income 

• The CCG has further work to complete to establish a robust financial recovery 
plan 

• The Head of Internal Audit concluded an overall opinion of ‘substantial 
assurance’ 

 
I have concluded that, with the exception of the delivery of the financial recovery 
programme, the CCG had a generally sound system of internal control in place 
continuously throughout the year, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives.  
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Whilst financial controls are generally sound, the establishment of a robust financial 
recovery plan, which will ensure the financial duty that expenditure does not exceed 
income is met in 2017/18, is not yet complete. 
 
 
 
 
Steven Mason 
Accountable Officer 
30 May 2017  
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Remuneration and Staff Report  
 
Remuneration Report  
  
For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of “senior managers” is as 
per the CCG Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England: 
 
“Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling major activities of the clinical commissioning group. This means those 
who influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole rather 
than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.” 
 
It is considered that the Governing Body members and Joint Locality Board 
members represent the senior managers of the CCG. 
 
The members of the Governing Body and Joint Locality Board were all appointed 
through a robust recruitment interview process which was in line with the CCG’s 
Constitution and were in post prior to 1 April 2013. All posts may be terminated by 
mutual agreement, resignation or dismissal in line with the CCG’s Constitution.  
 
Remuneration policy 
 
Remuneration for the lay governors (including Chair), governing body nurse and 
governing body secondary care doctor is discussed and voted for by the members of 
the CCG at the members’ meetings. 
 
Remuneration for the posts of Accountable Officer, Clinical Chair, Chief Operating 
Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Locality Directors, Business Directors and 
Transformation Director are agreed by the members of the CCG’s Appointments & 
Remuneration Committee. 
 
The Governing Body has an established Appointments & Remuneration Committee; 
its membership comprises the Lay CCG Chair (who chairs the Committee) and all 
other Lay Governors. The principal function of the Appointments and Remuneration 
Committee is to advise the Governing Body on senior appointments, about 
appropriate remuneration and terms of service, and determine the remuneration and 
terms of service of members of the Joint Locality Executive Board and other staff 
directly accountable to the Accountable Officer or Chief Operating Officer. 
 
The Accountable Officer is the lead officer for the committee and is invited to attend 
all meetings but withdraws from discussions relating to his own remuneration. Other 
officers, employees, and practice representatives of the group are invited to attend 
all or part of meetings of the committee to provide advice or support particular 
discussion from time to time. They are not in attendance for discussions about their 
own remuneration or terms of service. Declarations of interest are made at the start 
of every meeting. 
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An annual salary review is undertaken to determine whether an annual uplift should 
be awarded and if so the level of the uplift. In making this decision, the Appointments 
& Remuneration Committee takes into consideration a number of factors including 
the level of pay awards made nationally to other staff groups within the NHS as well 
as NHS England guidance and the affordability to the organisation. 
 
Performance evaluation of the Accountable Officer will be undertaken by the Lay 
CCG Chair and the Area Team Director. The Lay CCG Chair also undertakes 
performance evaluation of other lay governors including the governing body nurse 
and governing body secondary care doctor. 
 
Performance evaluation of the Chief Operating Officer is undertaken by the 
Accountable Officer and the Lay CCG Chair. The Clinical Chair undertakes the 
performance evaluation of the locality directors and the business directors. The Chief 
Operating Officer then undertakes performance evaluation of the Chief Finance 
Officer and the Transformation Director. 
 
No element of remuneration is subject to performance conditions. 
 
The CCG currently has no provision for compensation for early termination or early 
retirement. Comparative information for the prior year is disclosed in the tables on 
the following pages. 
 
All Pensions related benefit figures are received from NHS Pensions. 
 
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 
 
Where one or more senior managers of a CCG are paid more than a pro rata of 
£142,500 per annum, equivalent to the Prime Minister’s salary, information is 
disclosed in the remuneration report. Northumberland CCG has three very senior 
managers that are paid more than a pro rata of £142,500 per annum.  The 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee critically reviews the salary of very 
senior managers when making recommendations to Governing Body regarding the 
remuneration. 
 
The CCG had 16 senior managers in post at 31 March 2017.  
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Table 3: Northumberland CCG senior manager remuneration report 2016/17 (this has 
been subject to audit) 

  

Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 

benefits 
TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Janet Guy  Lay Chair 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
Karen Bower   Lay Governor 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Steve Brazier  Lay Governor 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Dr Paul Crook  Secondary Care Doctor 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Dr John 
Unsworth Governing Body Nurse 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Dr Alistair Blair  Clinical Chair 100-
105 39 0 0 10-12.5 115-120 

Steven Mason    Accountable Officer 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 
Vanessa 
Bainbridge   Chief Operating Officer 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Julie Ross    Chief Operating Officer 90-95 0 0 0 0 90-95 
Mike Robson    Interim Chief Finance Officer 35-40 0 0 0 0 35-40 
Rob Robertson     Chief Finance Officer 50-55 14 0 0 5-7.5 60-65 
Siobhan Brown Transformation Director 80-85 0 0 0 0-2.5 85-90 

Annie Topping Director of Nursing, Quality & 
Patient Safety 80-85 0 0 0 52.5-55 135-140 

Hilary Brown Locality Director 35-40 37 0 0 0 40-45 
Dr Frances 
Naylor Locality Director 45-50 0 0 0 5-7.5 50-55 
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Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 

benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr David Shovlin Locality Director 45-50 0 0 0 27.5-30 75-80 
Dr Graham Syers Locality Director 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 
Dr John 
Warrington Business Director 60-65 10 0 0 15-17.5 75-80 

        
Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars.   

 
 

All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions   
 

 
Steve Mason commenced his role on 1 December 2016.     

 
 

Vanessa Bainbridge commenced her role on 1 December 2016   
 

 
Mike Robson commenced his role on 26 September 2016   

 
 

Julie Ross left the CCG on 2 January 2017     
 

 
Rob Robertson has been on secondment to NHS Improvement since 31 August 2016.    
Dr Graham Syers is not employed directly by the CCG.  The salary value is based upon the cost incurred by the CCG 
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Table 4: Northumberland CCG remuneration report 2015/16 (this has been subject to 
audit) 

  

Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 

benefits 
TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Janet Guy Lay Chair 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Jacqui 
Henderson Lay Chair 0-5 - - - - 0-5 

Peter Atkinson Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Karen Bower  Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Steve Brazier Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr Paul Crook Secondary Care Doctor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr John 
Unsworth Governing Body Nurse 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr Alistair Blair Chief Clinical Officer 110-
115 34 - - 50-52.5 155-160 

Julie Ross Chief Operating Officer 115-
120 - - - 100-102.5 220-225 

Rob Robertson Chief Finance Officer 95-100 - - - 45-47.5 145-150 
Siobhan Brown Transformation Director 80-85 - - - - 80-85 

Annie Topping Director of Nursing, Quality & 
Patient Safety 70-75 - - - 165-167.5 235-240 

Hilary Brown Locality Director 35-40 32 - - - 35-40 
Dr Eileen Higgins Locality Director 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Dr Frances 
Naylor Locality Director 45-50 - - - 5-7.5 55-60 

Dr David Shovlin Locality Director 45-50 - - - 242.5-245 290-295 
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Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 

benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Graham Syers Locality Director 15-20 - - - - 15-20 
Dr John 
Warrington Business Director 55-60 - - - 285-287.5 340-345 

        Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars. 
    All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions. 
    Janet Guy commenced her role on 1 June 2015. 

      Jacqui Henderson left her role on 31 May 2015. 
Dr Eileen Higgins left her role on 30 June 2015. 
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Table 5. Northumberland CCG senior officers pension benefits 2016/17 (this has been subject to audit) 

  

Real 
increase 

in pension 
at pension 

age 

Real 
increase 

in 
pension 

lump sum 
at 

pension 
age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 
age at 31 

March 
2017 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2017 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2016 

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value  

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2017 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000)         

  
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Alistair Blair Clinical Chair 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 35-40 218 32 250 15 

Julie Ross 
Chief Operating 
Officer - - - 45-50 324 - 273 13 

Rob Robertson Chief Finance Officer 0-2.5 - 10-15 60-65 292 14 306 14 

Siobhan Brown 
Transformation 
Director 0-2.5 - 20-25 5-10 109 24 133 12 

Annie Topping  

Director of Nursing, 
Quality & Patient 
Safety 2.5-5 7.5-10 70-75 80-85 476 73 548 12 

Dr Frances Naylor Locality Director 0-2.5 - 15-20 25-30 153 17 171 7 
Dr David Shovlin Locality Director 0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 30-35 155 28 183 7 
Dr John 
Warrington Business Director 0-2.5 - 5-10 20-25 145 16 161 8 

 
Pension information provided by NHS Pensions 
Cash equivalent transfer values at 1 April 2016 have not been inflated in accordance with NHS Business Services Authority instruction. 
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Table 6: Northumberland CCG senior officers pension benefits 2015/16 (this has been subject to audit) 
 

  

Real 
increase 

in pension 
at pension 

age 

Real 
increase 

in 
pension 

lump sum 
at 

pension 
age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 
age at 31 

March 
2016 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2016  

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2015 

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value  

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2016 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000)         

  
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Alistair Blair Chief Clinical Officer 2.5-5 2.5-5 10-15 35-40 176 42 218 15 

Julie Ross 
Chief Operating 
Officer 5-7.5 7.5-10 20-25 60-65 254 70 324 17 

Rob Robertson Chief Finance Officer 2.5-5 2.5-5 20-25 60-65 264 28 292 14 

Siobhan Brown 
Transformation 
Director - - 0-5 5-10 92 16 109 12 

Annie Topping  

Director of Nursing, 
Quality & Patient 
Safety 5-7.5 20-22.5 20-25 70-75 316 144 476 10 

Hilary Brown Locality Director - - - - - - - - 
Dr Eileen Higgins Locality Director - - 0-5 5-10 157 - 42 2 
Dr Frances Naylor Locality Director 0-2.5 - 5-10 25-30 145 9 153 7 
Dr David Shovlin Locality Director 10-12.5 27.5-30 10-15 30-35 - 142 155 6 
Dr John 
Warrington Business Director 10-12.5 32.5-35 10-15 35-40 - 162 177 7 

Pension information provided by NHS Pensions 
Cash equivalent transfer values at 1 April 2015 have been inflated by 1.2% 
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Cash equivalent transfer values  
 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 
 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
Real increase in CETV 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes 
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period. 
 
There was no compensation on early retirement for loss of office paid during 
2016/17. (This has been subject to audit.) 
 
There were no payments to past members paid during 2016/17.  (This has been 
subject to audit.) 
 
Fair pay disclosure (This has been subject to audit) 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Northumberland CCG in the 
financial year 2016/17 was £105-110k (2015/16: £115-120k).  This was 2.0 times 
(2015/16: 2.8) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £53,103 
(2015/16: £42,720).  
 
In 2016/17, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
member. Remuneration ranged from £15,251 to £85,000 (2015/2016: £15,100 to 
£100,000) 
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 
The movement in median remuneration is due to the inclusion of temporary staff in 
the calculation in 2016/17.  
The movement in ratio is due to a change of the most highly paid full time individual 
at the reporting date and the increase in median remuneration.  
 
Table 7: Fair pay disclosure (this has been subject to audit) 
 

 2016/17 2015/16 
Band of Highest Paid Director's Total 
Remuneration (£'000) 

105-110 115-120 

Median Total Remuneration (£)  53,103 42,720 
Ratio  2.0 2.8 

 

   

Staff Report   
 
Staff numbers and costs (this has been subject to audit) 
 
Staff numbers and costs are analysed by permanent employees and ‘other.’  
Permanently employed refers to members of staff with a permanent (UK) 
employment contract directly with the CCG.  
 
Other refers to any staff engaged that do not have a permanent (UK) employment 
contract with the CCG. This includes employees on short term contracts of 
employment and agency/temporary staff. 
 
The figures exclude lay members of the Governing Body. 
 
Table 8: Northumberland CCG average number of people employed 
 
 
 

Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Average number of people employed   29.9 4.6 34.5 

    Table 9: Northumberland CCG staff costs  
    

 

Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Staff costs £'000 £'000 £'000 
Salaries and wages 1,787 651 2,438 
Social security costs 207 0 207 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 218 0 218 
Staff costs 2,212 651 2,863 
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Staff composition 
 
The CCG has a staff headcount of 46 employees (including non-executives and 
chair) as at the 31 March 2016. This includes 8 very senior managers and 38 other 
CCG Employees.   
 
Below is the gender split for the above headcount:  
 
Table 10: Northumberland CCG staff gender profile at 31 March 2017             
 
 Male Female 
Very Senior managers 4 4 
Other CCG employees 13 25 
Total CCG employees 17 29 
 
Sickness absence data 
 
The CCG report staff sickness absence data in the financial statements.  A table is 
included in the employee benefits note to the financial statements and shown in note 
5.3 of the accounts. 
 
Staff policies 
 
The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken steps throughout 
2016/17 to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and consultation 
with employees, including: 
 

• Providing employees with information on matters of concern to them as 
employees 

• Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that the 
views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which are 
likely to affect their interests 

• Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance  
• Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the 

part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the 
performance of the CCG 

• Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff representatives 
and CCG managers from across the region meet together 
 

The CCG has a positive attitude to recruitment, employment, training and 
development of disabled persons. The CCG has successfully renewed its 
accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for 2017. The symbol, awarded by 
Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the 
abilities of disabled staff.  
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Expenditure on consultancy 
 
The CCG incurred consultancy expenditure of £46k during 2016/17.  One supplier, 
engaged to independently evaluate Vanguard programme Year 1 and 2 progress, 
accounts for this expenditure. 
 
Off-payroll engagements  
 
Table 11: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 
 
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day 
and that last longer than six months:  

  Number 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017 13 

Of which, the number that have existed:  

for less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 3 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 10 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 
 
All existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based 
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the 
right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 
 
Table 12: New off-payroll engagements  
 
For all new off-payroll engagements between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for 
more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months: 

  Number 
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 0 

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving 
Northumberland CCG the right to request assurance in relation to income 
tax and National Insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 0 

Of which:  

assurance has been received 0 

assurance has not been received 0 

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received.  0 
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Table 13: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 
 
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.  
 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or 
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the 
financial year 

1 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been 
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should 
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. 

18 

 
Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (this has 
been subject to audit) 
 
No exit packages including special (non-contractual) payments were made in 
2016/17.  
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a 
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on contingent liabilities 
are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at note 15, page 21. 
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 94. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of NHS 
Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Northumberland CCG for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The 
financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Financial Position, and the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, 
the Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and 
as interpreted and adapted by the 2016-17 Government Financial Reporting Manual 
as contained in the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 and the 
Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the 
Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (“the 
Accounts Direction”). 
 
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is 
described as being subject to audit. 
 
This report is made solely to the Members of NHS Northumberland CCG, as a body, 
in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set 
out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited 
Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the CCG those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Members of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, 
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and is also responsible for 
ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require 
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. We 
are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and 
income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
 
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is 
responsible for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
the use of the CCG's resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires 
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that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper 
arrangements are in place. 
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes assessing:  
 
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances 

and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  
• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 

Accountable Officer; and  
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual 
report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
 
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have 
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources 
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The 
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to 
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG 
put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our 
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a 
view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper 
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arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Northumberland CCG 

as at 31 March 2017 and of its net expenditure and income for the year then 
ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

 
Emphasis of matter 
 
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have 
considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 1.1 of the financial 
statements concerning the ability of the CCG to continue as a going concern. The 
CCG reported a cumulative deficit of £40.461m as at the year ended 31 March 2017. 
The CCG’s draft 2017/19 Financial Recovery Plan requires that the CCG make 
substantial QIPP savings of over £40.0 million. These, along with the other matters 
explained in Note 1.1 to the financial statements, indicates the existence of an 
uncertainty which may cast doubt on the CCG’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. However public sector bodies are assumed to be a going concern where 
the continuation of services in the future can be fully anticipated as evidenced by the 
inclusion of financial provision for that service in public documents. 
 
Opinion on regularity 
 
As disclosed in note 19 of its financial statements, the CCG failed to meet its 
statutory duties under: 
 
• section 223H(1) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure expenditure did 

not exceed income in 2016/17; and  
• section 223I(3) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure revenue resource 

use does not exceed the amount specified in the Direction. 
 
Except for the incurrence of expenditure in excess of the specified targets, in our 
opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the 
financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Opinion on other matters 
 
In our opinion: 
 
• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made under 
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the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012); and 

• the other information published together with the audited financial statements in 
the annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements. 

 
Matters on which we report by exception 
 
We are required to report to you if: 
 
• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance 

issued by the NHS England; or 
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 
• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24, schedule 7 of 

the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
 
Exception reports 
 
Referral to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities 
 
We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to refer the matter 
to the Secretary of State if we have a reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of 
the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, 
or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency. 
 
On 24 March 2017, we issued a report to the Secretary of State for Health under 
section 30 (1) (a) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, for the breach of 
financial duties under: 
 
• section 223H(1) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure expenditure did 

not exceed income in 2015/16; and  
• section 223I(3) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure revenue resource 

use does not exceed the amount specified in the Direction. 
 
Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We report to you if we are not satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 
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Basis for adverse conclusion  
 
The CCG reported a deficit of £40.461 million in its financial statements for the year 
ending 31 March 2017, thereby breaching its duty under the National Health Service 
Act 2006, as amended by paragraphs 223I (2) and (3) of Section 27 of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012, to break even on its commissioning budget.  
 
The CCG has not yet succeeded in addressing the underlying deficit in its budget 
and is forecasting a further in year deficit of £4.480 million for 2017/18, increasing its 
forecast cumulative deficit to £44.941 million at 31 March 2018. The CCG’s draft 
2017/19 financial recovery plan highlights that it aims to maintain this position in 
2018/19. 
 
These issues are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for planning 
finances effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and 
maintain statutory functions.  
 
Adverse conclusion  
 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the C&AG in 
November 2016, we are not satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS 
Northumberland CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 
2017. 
 
Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Northumberland 
CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
Cameron Waddell 
 
Partner For and on behalf of Mazars LLP  
Salvus House 
Aykley Heads  
Durham  
DH1 5TS  
 
30 May 2017 
 
 

  
Page 100 of 101 

 



 

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 101 of 101 
 



Entity name: NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group

This year 2016-17

This year ended 31-March-2017

This year commencing: 01-April-2016



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Page Number

The Primary Statements:

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2017 1

Statement of Financial Position as at 31st March 2017 2

Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31st March 2017 3

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31st March 2017 4

Notes to  the Accounts Note Number

Accounting policies 1 5

Prior period adjustments 2 9

Other operating revenue 3 9

Revenue 4 9

Employee benefits and staff numbers 5 10

Operating expenses 6 12

Better payment practice code 7 13

Operating leases 8 14

Property, plant and equipment 9 15

Trade and other receivables 10 16

Cash and cash equivalents 11 17

Trade and other payables 12 18

Provisions 13 19

Financial instruments 14 19

Contingencies 15 21

Pooled budgets 16 21

Related party transactions 17 22

Events after the end of the reporting period 18 23

Financial performance targets 19 23

CONTENTS



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2017

Restated

2016-17 2015-16

Note £'000 £'000

Revenue from sale of goods and services 3 (70) (3)

Other operating revenue 3 (151) (59)

Total operating revenue (221) (62)

0

Staff costs 5 2,863 2,444

Purchase of goods and services 6 535,759 461,737

Depreciation and impairment charges 6 263 205

Other operating expenditure 6 54 61

Total operating expenditure 538,939 464,447

Net expenditure for the year 538,718 464,385

Net Gain/(Loss) on Transfer by Absorption 0

Total Net Expenditure for the year 538,718 464,385

Other Comprehensive Expenditure 0 0

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 538,718 464,385

The notes on pages 9 to 12 form part of this statement

1



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2017

Restated Restated

2016-17 2015-16 1st April 15

Note £'000 £'000 £'000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 9 1,573 1,836 2,016

Total non-current assets 1,573 1,836 2,016

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 10 2,785 2,645 3,422

Cash and cash equivalents 11 21 51 57

Total current assets 2,806 2,696 3,479

Total assets 4,379 4,532 5,495

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 (27,962) (23,474) (20,412)

Total current liabilities (27,962) (23,474) (20,412)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (23,583) (18,942) (14,917)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (23,583) (18,942) (14,917)

Total taxpayers' equity: (23,583) (18,942) (14,917)

The notes on pages 15 to 18 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 25th May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Steven Mason

Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended

31 March 2017

General fund

Total 

reserves

2016-17 2016-17

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Balance at 01 April 2016 (18,942) (18,942)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies 0 0

Adjusted NHS CCG balance at 31 March 2017 (18,942) (18,942)

Changes in NHS CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Net operating expenditure for the financial year SOCNE (538,718) (538,718)

Net Recognised NHS CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (557,660) (557,660)

Net funding SCF 534,077 534,077

Balance at 31 March 2017 (23,583) (23,583)

Restated Restated

General fund

Total 

reserves

2015-16 2015-16

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Balance at 01 April 2015 (14,917) (14,917)

Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition

0 0

Adjusted NHS CCG balance at 31 March 2016 (14,917) (14,917)

Changes in NHS CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Net operating costs for the financial year (464,385) (464,385)

Net Recognised NHS CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (479,302) (479,302)

Net funding 460,360 460,360

Balance at 31 March 2016 (18,942) (18,942)

The statements on pages 1, 2 and 4 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2017 Restated

2016-17 2015-16

Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year SOCNE (538,718) (464,385)

Depreciation and amortisation 6 263 205

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 10 (140) 777

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 12 4,488 3,100

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (534,107) (460,303)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment 0 (63)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 0 (63)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (534,107) (460,366)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 534,077 460,360

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 534,077 460,360

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 11 (30) (6)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 11 51 57

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 21 51

The notes on pages 12 to 18 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the  Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the  

Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow 

International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by 

HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, 

the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving 

a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have been 

applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 30 of the 

Local  Audit and Accountability Act 2014. A section 30 is issued when a Clinical Commissioning Group is in breach of its statutory requirement to remain 

within its given revenue resource limit. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by 

inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by 

another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If services will continue 

to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment and 

certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Pooled Budgets

Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the 

Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, 

identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

Joint operations are arrangements where contractual agreements are in place under which the Clinical Commissioning Group and one or more other 

parties share control. Joint ventures have rights to assets and obligations in relation to liabilities. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts only for its 

share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the arrangement.

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and 

underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the 

Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

·                Determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme expenditure;

·                Determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets; and,

·                Determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future                        

                 obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare services.

1.4.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The majority of transactions reported are based upon actual 

transactions, in some cases estimates are required when actual charges have not been received. When this occurs the Clinical Commissioning Group 

calculates estimates taking account of the latest information available and actual year to date transactions. The main estimate in 2016/17 related to 

prescribing expenditure which is two months in arrears and is based on BSA profiling, the accrual within the accounts is £8.4m.

1.4.3 Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors

Accounting Policies must be applied consistently to promote comparability between financial statements of different accounting periods. However, a 

change in accounting policy may be necessary to enhance the relevance and reliability of information contained in the financial statements. Such 

changes may be required as a result of changes in IFRS or may be applied voluntarily by the management.

As a general rule, changes in Accounting Policies must be applied retrospectively in the financial statements. Retrospective application means that entity 

implements the change in accounting policy as though it had always been applied.

Consequently, the Clinical Commissioning Group shall adjust all comparative amounts presented in the financial statements affected by the change in 

accounting policy for each prior period presented.

Retrospective application of a change in accounting policy may be exempted in the following circumstances:

·                A change in accounting policy is required by a new IFRS or a change to an existing IFRS / IAS and the transitional provisions of those 

                 standards allow or require prospective application of a new accounting policy. Specific transitional guidance of IFRS must be followed in 

                 such circumstances.

·               The application of a new accounting policy is in respect of transactions, events and circumstances that are substantially different from 

                 those that transpired in the past.

·               The effect of retrospective application of a change in accounting policy is immaterial.   

·               The retrospective application of a change in accounting policy is impracticable. This may for example be the case where entity has not 

                 collected sufficient data to enable objective assessment of the effect of a change in accounting estimate and it would be unfeasible or 

                 impractical reconstruct such data.

Where impracticability impairs a Clinical Commissioning Groups ability to apply a change in accounting policy retrospectively from the earliest prior 

period presented, the new accounting policy must be applied prospectively from the beginning of the earliest period feasible which may be the current 

period.
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Notes to the financial statements

All changes in accounting policies and corrections of prior period estimates and errors are accounted for retrospectively. This means that comparative 

information in financial statements is restated to reflect transactions and events in accordance with the new accounting policy as if that policy had always 

been applied, and that prior period estimates and errors are corrected in the period in which they occurred.

1.5 Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6 Employee Benefits

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses 

earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are 

permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that 

covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is 

not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 

scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken 

as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for 

the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of 

payment.

Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme assets and 

liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounts. The assets are measured 

at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the 

year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised within finance income. The interest 

cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses 

during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.7 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of 

the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which 

occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.8.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;

·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably;

·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000;

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 

interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial 

control;

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as 

separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2 Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and 

bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured 

subsequently at valuation.

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in 

expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not 

result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a 

balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken 

to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Net Expenditure.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent 

expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out 

and charged to operating expenses.

1.9 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment, less any residual value, over 

their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of 

an asset is the period over which the Clinical Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is 

specific to the Clinical Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 

estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible assets have suffered an 

impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss 

and, if so, its amount. 

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation 

reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear 

consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is 

increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial 

impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to 

the revaluation reserve.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 

classified as operating leases.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 

investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk 

of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral 

part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.

1.12   Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS 

Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority 

is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.13   Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 

schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance 

with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 

expenses as and when they become due.

1.14 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.  Under 

the scheme Clinical Commissioning Group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims. In 2016-17 this contribution was 

£494k.

1.15 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence 

of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised 

because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. 

A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

1.16 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 

receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset 

has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

·                Held to maturity investments;

·                Available for sale financial assets;

·                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.16.1 Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial 

recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective 

interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair 

value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through 

profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 

one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 

the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the 

receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.17 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual 

provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-

recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 

purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 

assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19 Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. 

By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of 

payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have 

been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 

included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.20 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of which are 

subject to consultation:

·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)

·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH groups bodies)

·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)

·                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in that year.
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2 Prior Period Adjustments

The table below discloses the expenditure values restated in the accounts:

2016-17 2015-16 2014-15

£'000 £'000 £'000

Continuing Healthcare contract (3,290) 574 2,716

Section 117 contract and Mental heath pooled budget (2,340) 1,087 1,253

Total Restatement (5,630) 1,661 3,969

The above amendments have been restated throughout the following annual accounts statements and notes.  

3 Other Operating Revenue

2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue 

expenditure: non-NHS 15 15 0 39 39 0

Non-patient care services to other bodies 70 0 70 3 0 3

Other revenue 136 20 116 20 20 0

Total other operating revenue 221 35 186 62 59 3

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

4 Revenue

2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

From rendering of services 221 35 186 62 59 3

Total 221 35 186 62 59 3

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited 

to the General Fund.

In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, A Prior Period Adjustment has been made which will 

restate the previous audited accounts. The adjustment has arisen due to the Clinical Commissioning Group now reflecting the timing differences in 

closure of ledgers at a year end between the Local authority and Clinical Commissioning Group. Future expenditure will be reported on this changed 

basis.

Statements; Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SOCNE), Statement of Financial Position (SOFP), Statement of Changes in Taxpayers 

Equity (SOCITE), and Statement of Cashflow (SCF).

Notes; Note 6 Operating Expenses, Note 12 Trade and Other Payables, Note 14 Financial Instruments, and Note 19 Financial Performance targets.
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5. Employee benefits and staff numbers

2016-17 2015-16

5.1 Employee benefits

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Salaries and wages 2,438 1,787 651 2,094 1,631 463

Social security costs 207 207 0 154 154 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 218 218 0 196 196 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,863 2,212 651 2,444 1,981 463

5.2 Average number of people employed

2015-16

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanently 

employed Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 34.5 29.9 4.6 33.8 29.5 4.3

The Clinical Commissioning Group has had no whole time equivalent people engaged in capital projects in the year ending 31 March 2017. 

5.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2016-17 2015-16

Number Number

Total Days Lost 220 450

Total Staff Years 32 30

Average working Days Lost 7 15

The 2016/17 sickness figures are for the 12 month period from January 2016 to December 2016

The 2015/16 sickness figures are for the 12 month period from January 2015 to December 2015

2016-17 2015-16

Number Number

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds 0 1

There was no ill health retirement for the year ending 31 March 2017, in the year ending 31 March 2016 there was one.

5.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no exit packages agreed for the year ending 31 March 2017, and 31 March 2016.

2016-17

The Clinical Commissioning Group has had no staff that they classify as programme expenditure in the year ending 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

Total Total
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5.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 

provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 

direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 

to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of 

participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. 

An outline of these follows:

5.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its 

recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such 

valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to 

that date. Details which were published on the 9 June 2014 can be found on the pension scheme website at 

www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £218,310 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16: £195,640) at the rate of 14.3%

of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation

Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government

website on 9 June 2012. 
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6. Operating expenses

Restated Restated

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 2,383 2,383 0 1,974 1974 0

Executive governing body members 480 480 0 470 470 0

Total gross employee benefits 2,863 2,863 0 2,444 2,444 0

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,222 1,288 934 2,554 1,546 1,008

Services from foundation trusts 355,395 284 355,111 333,552 252 333,300

Services from other NHS trusts 1,709 0 1,709 1,236 0 1,236

Services from other WGA bodies 2 0 2 0 0 0

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 75,268 0 75,268 64,711 0 64,711

Chair and Non Executive Members (other operating expenditure) 47 47 0 54 54 0

Supplies and services – clinical 1,944 0 1,944 1,720 0 1,720

Supplies and services – general 1,144 1,144 0 673 673 0

Consultancy services 46 46 0 62 62 0

Establishment 186 144 42 142 131 11

Transport 9 9 0 11 11 0

Premises 334 334 0 198 198 0

Depreciation 263 263 0 205 205 0

Audit fees 81 81 0 81 81 0

·          Other services 0 0 0 0 0 0

Prescribing costs 53,511 0 53,511 54,374 0 54,374

Pharmaceutical services 84 0 84 70 0 70

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 43,049 0 43,049 977 0 977

Other professional fees excl. audit 276 276 0 141 141 0

Clinical negligence (other operating expenditure) 7 7 0 7 7 0

Education and training 5 5 0 0 0 0

CHC Risk Pool contributions 494 0 494 1,235 0 1,235

Total other costs 536,076 3,928 532,148 462,003 3,361 458,642

Total operating expenses 538,939 6,791 532,148 464,447 5,805 458,642

Audit fees are shown inclusive of VAT.

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS relates to Primary Care Commissioning.

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. Admin expenditure has 

increased between the years 2015-16 and 2016-17 mainly due to additional non recurrent staffing costs and additional CHC admin costs incurred in 2016-

17 that were not present in 2015-16.

The Clinical Commissioning Group has seen a significant increase in overall expenditure in 2016-17, this is due to the Clinical Commissioning Group now 

hosting the delegated Primary Care Co-commissioning allocation, this expenditure was reported in NHS England's accounts 2015-16 rather than the 

Clinical Commissioning Groups accounts. The £42,538k Primary care Co-commissioning expenditure is shown within the GPMS/APMS and PCTMS line 

above. GPMS/APMS and PCTMS stands for General Personal Medical Services / Alternative Provider Medical Services and Primary Care Trust Medical 

Services.
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7 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 2015-16

Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 7,225 121,775 6,665 74,717

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 7,167 120,854 6,411 74,037

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.20% 99.24% 96.19% 99.09%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,431 361,310 2,014 334,265

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,421 361,004 1,997 333,628

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.59% 99.92% 99.16% 99.81%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days 

of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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8. Operating Leases

8 As lessee

8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2016-17 2015-16

Total Buildings Other Total Buildings Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 337 329 8 202 188 14

Contingent rents 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-lease payments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 337 329 8 202 188 14

8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2016-17 2015-16

Total Buildings Other Total Buildings Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:

No later than one year 1 0 1 9 0 9

Between one and five years 0 0 0 5 0 5

After five years 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1 0 1 14 0 14

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership's Limited and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating 

leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for the 

arrangements only.
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9 Property, plant and equipment

2016-17

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016 1,999 22 31 2,052

Additions purchased 0 0 0 0

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017 1,999 22 31 2,052

Depreciation 01 April 2016 198 16 2 216

Charged during the year 250 6 7 263

Depreciation at 31 March 2017 448 22 9 479

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017 1,551 0 22 1,573

Purchased 1,551 0 22 1,573

Total at 31 March 2017 1,551 0 22 1,573

Asset financing:

Owned 1,551 0 22 1,573

Total at 31 March 2017 1,551 0 22 1,573

2015-16

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2015 1,999 22 6 2,027

Additions purchased 0 0 25 25

Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2016 1,999 22 31 2,052

Depreciation 01 April 2015 0 11 0 11

Charged during the year 198 5 2 205

Depreciation at 31 March 2016 198 16 2 216

Net Book Value at 31 March 2016 1,801 6 29 1,836

Purchased 1,801 6 29 1,836

Total at 31 March 2016 1,801 6 29 1,836

Asset financing:

Owned 1,801 6 29 1,836

Total at 31 March 2016 1,801 6 29 1,836

9.1 Economic lives

Plant & machinery 8 8

Transport equipment 4 4

Information technology 4 4

Minimum 

Life (years)

Maximum 

Life (Years)
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10  Trade and other receivables Current Current

2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,329 661

NHS prepayments 1,110 1,385

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 269 323

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 52 175

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 16 95

VAT 8 6

Other receivables and accruals 1 0

Total Trade & other receivables 2,785 2,645

Total current 2,785 2,645

10.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

By up to three months 716 61

By three to six months 29 13

By more than six months 11 0

Total 756 74

£619k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to Clinical 

Commissioning Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

All of the Clinical Commissioning Groups receivables are due within 1 year, therefore the Clinical Commissioning Group has no non 

current assets in trade and other receivables for the year ending 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.
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11 Cash and cash equivalents

2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

Opening cash balance 51 57

Net change in year (30) (6)

Closing cash balance 21 51

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 21 51

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 21 51

Cash balance at end of reporting period 21 51
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Restated Restated

Current Current Current

2016-17 2015-16 1st April 15

£'000 £'000 £'000

NHS payables: revenue 4,327 5,700 1,026

NHS accruals 2,828 2,291 3,976

NHS deferred income 0 0 1,414

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 5,431 611 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital 0 0 38

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 14,860 14,785 13,874

Social security costs 31 20 18

Tax 34 27 21

Other payables and accruals 451 40 45

Total Trade & Other Payables 27,962 23,474 20,412

12 Trade and other payables

All of the Clinical Commissioning Groups payables are due within 1 year, therefore the Clinical Commissioning Group has no non 

current liabilities in trade and other payables for the year ending 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no deferred income or capital accruals for the year ending 31 March 2017 and 31 March 

2016.

Other payables include £396k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017, this was £31k at 31 March 2016. The reason for 

the increase year on year is due to the Clinical Commissioning Group now having GP pensions in their accounts in 2016-17 as a 

result of Primary care co-commssioning.
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13   Provisions

14 Financial instruments

14.1 Financial risk management

14.1.1 Currency risk

14.1.2 Interest rate risk

14.1.3 Credit risk

14.1.4 Liquidity risk

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no provisions to report in their statement of financial position for the year ending 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

Although NHS England is responsible for the payment of liabilities relating to continuing healthcare cases relating to the period before establishment of the 

Clinical Commissioning Group, the legal liability remains with the Clincal Commissioning Group. The total value of 'legacy' continuing healthcare provisions 

carried by NHS England as at the 31 March 2017 on behalf of the Clinical Commissioning Group is £3,407k (31 March 2016 £2,715k).

Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, the Clinical Commissioning Group has low exposure to 

credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by 

Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, 

exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body 

faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business 

entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial 

reporting standards mainly apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 

generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group 

standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group and 

internal auditors.

The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and 

sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical Commissioning Group and therefore has low exposure to currency 

rate fluctuations.

The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure when applicable, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. 

The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the 

loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

19



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

14 Financial instruments cont'd

14.2 Financial assets

Loans and 

Receivables Total

2016-17 2016-17

£'000 £'000

Receivables:

·          NHS 1,330 1,330

·          Non-NHS 285 285

Cash at bank and in hand 21 21

Other financial assets 1 1

Total at 31 March 2017 1,637 1,637

Loans and 

Receivables Total

2015-16 2015-16

£'000 £'000

Receivables:

·          NHS 661 661

·          Non-NHS 418 418

Cash at bank and in hand 51 51

Other financial assets 0 0

Total at 31 March 2016 1,130 1,130

14.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total

2016-17 2016-17

£'000 £'000

Payables:

·          NHS 7,155 7,155

·          Non-NHS 20,742 20,742

Total at 31 March 2017 27,897 27,897

Restated Restated

Other Total

2015-16 2015-16

£'000 £'000

Payables:

·          NHS 7,991 7,991

·          Non-NHS 15,436 15,436

Total at 31 March 2016 23,427 23,427

14.4 Maturity of financial liabilities

The Clinical Commissioning Groups liabilities are all due to mature within one year.
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15 Contingencies

2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

15.1 Contingent liabilities

Contract challenges with Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 3,712 0

Net value of contingent liabilities 3,712 0

16 Pooled budgets

2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

Income 0 0

Expenditure 22,449 18,217

16.1 Better care fund pool - Memorandum of account

POOLED FUND MEMORANDUM ACCOUNT for the period 1 April 2016-31 March 2017

Budget Budget YTD Actual YTD Variance

£`000 £`000 £`000 £`000

Gross Funding     
CCG 22,448.7 22,448.7 22,448.7 0.0

Northumberland  LA 2,328.0 2,328.0 2,328.0 0.0

NEL Risk Share

Total Funding (a) 24,776.7 24,776.7 24,776.7 0.0

Expenditure        
Northumbria FT Acute Non Pool B 4,882.1 4,882.1 4,882.1 0.0

Northumbria FT Community Non Pool B 2,628.6 2,628.6 2,628.6 0.0

CHC Non Pool B 800.0 800.0 800.0 0.0

GP`s Non Pool B 320.0 320.0 320.0 0.0

Packages of care Non Pool B 1,828.0 1,828.0 1,828.0 0.0

MH Pool C 2,696.0 2,696.0 2,696.0 0.0

Dementia Pool C 500.0 500.0 500.0 0.0

Admissions avoidance LA Pool C 6,594.0 6,594.0 6,810.0 (216.0)

Admissions avoidance NEL Pool C 2,200.0 2,200.0 2,200.0 0.0

Social Care capital Non Pool A 847.0 847.0 403.0 444.0

DFG Non Pool A 1,481.0 1,481.0 1,709.0 (228.0)

Total Expenditure (b) 24,776.7 24,776.7 24,776.7 0.0

Net underspend/overspend (a) – (b) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Under s75 of the 2006 NHS Act, the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget agreement with Northumberland Council in relation to 

the better care fund. For accounting purposes management has assessed that joint control does not exist.

The Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:

The Clinical Commissioning Group has included the above contingent liability due to the uncertainty in the outcome of an independent arbitors review on 

contract challenge cases that the Clinical Commissioning Group has outstanding with Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, as at the 31 March 

2017. 
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17 Related party transactions

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts from 

Related Party

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts from 

Related Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Director Related Organisations Director

WELLWAY MEDICAL GROUP Dr Alistair Blair 2,491 0 237 0

BURN BRAE MEDICAL GROUP Dr David Shovlin 1,528 0 86 0

FORUM FAMILY PRACTICE Dr Frances Naylor 694 0 62 0

PROJEECO LTD Dr Frances Naylor 8 0 3 0

WELL CLOSE SQUARE SURGERY Hilary Brown 1,086 0 145 0

BROCKWELL MEDICAL GROUP Dr John Warrington 1,672 0 180 0

THE BONDGATE SURGERY Dr Graham Syers 1,517 0 292 0

NORTH NORTHUMBERLAND IMATS Dr Graham Syers 115 0 118 0

ST OSWALDS HOSPICE Mike Robson (2016-17 only) 364 0 0 0

GUIDEPOST MEDICAL GROUP Dr Eileen Higgins (left director post 30-6-15) 1,027 0 60 0

Non Director Related Practices

THE ROTHBURY PRACTICE 844 0 98 0

LINTONVILLE MEDICAL GROUP 1,609 0 139 0

BEDLINGTONSHIRE MEDICAL GROUP 1,177 0 105 0

PONTELAND MEDICAL GROUP 1,731 0 458 0

BELFORD MEDICAL PRACTICE 1,001 0 371 0

WATERLOO MEDICAL GROUP 1,566 0 172 0

WHITE MEDICAL GROUP 1,289 0 369 0

THE GABLES MEDICAL GROUP 898 0 193 0

MARINE MEDICAL GROUP 1,273 0 153 0

LABURNUM MEDICAL GROUP 321 0 11 0

PRUDHOE MEDICAL GROUP 696 0 70 0

CORBRIDGE HEALTH CENTRE 1,294 0 408 0

THE CONSULTING ROOMS 1,182 0 188 0

COQUET MEDICAL GROUP 1,508 0 174 0

CRAMLINGTON MEDICAL GROUP 601 0 53 0

BELLINGHAM MEDICAL GROUP 505 0 61 0

SEATON PARK MEDICAL GROUP 2,521 0 197 0

WIDDRINGTON SURGERY 463 0 115 0

VILLAGE MEDICAL GROUP 1,426 0 377 0

GREYSTOKE SURGERY 1,208 0 161 0

CHEVIOT MEDICAL GROUP 535 0 244 0

SELE MEDICAL PRACTICE 1,090 0 68 0

HALTWHISTLE MEDICAL GROUP 758 0 98 0

RIVERSDALE SURGERY 893 0 247 0

NETHERFIELD HOUSE SURGERY 700 0 50 0

GAS HOUSE LANE SURGERY 855 0 222 0

HUMSHAUGH & WARK MED GRP 934 0 412 0

SCOTS GAP MEDICAL GROUP 573 0 250 0

UNION BRAE & NORHAM PRAC 1,114 0 319 0

HAYDON & ALLEN VALLEYS MED PRAC 810 0 144 0

BRANCH END SURGERY 752 0 189 0

STATION MEDICAL GROUP 1,159 0 82 0

GLENDALE SURGERY 450 0 182 0

MIDDLE FARM SURGERY 460 0 200 0

HARBOTTLE SURGERY (Closed August 2015) 0 0 72 0

ADDERLANE SURGERY 225 0 18 0

ELSDON AVENUE SURGERY 429 0 48 0

COLLINGWOOD MEDICAL GROUP 50 0 67 0

HADRIAN PRIMARY CARE ALLIANCE LTD 102 0 64 0

NORTHUMBERLAND GP CONSORTIUM 0 0 5 0

• Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 219,540 0 203,710 0

• Newcastle Upon Tyne NHS Foundation Trust 69,922 0 60,708 0

• Northumberland, Tyne & Wear NHS Trust 52,240 0 45,734 0

• Northumberland County Council 58,154 0 49,560 0

• North East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust 15,026 0 15,574 0

• Gateshead NHS Foundation Trust 1,774 0 2,177 0

• NHS North of England CSU 2,198 0 2,659 0

The Clinical Commissioning Group also has other non-material transactions with other NHS related parties that include:

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2016-17 2015-16

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities 

for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department.

• NHS England, North Cumbria University Hospital NHS Trust, NHS Litigation Authority, NHS Property Servies, NHS North Tynside CCG, NHS Doncaster CCG, NHS Durham 

dales, Easington and Sedgfield CCG, NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG, NHS Sunderland CCG and NHS North Durham CCG. 

In 2016-17 the Clinical Commissioning Group now has Primary care co-commissioning payments included within their related parties, these were not in the Clinical Clinical 

Group accounts in 2015-16.
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18 Events after the end of the reporting period

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

19 Financial performance targets

The Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

£'000 £'000 £'000

National 

Health 

Service Act 

Section

Duty Target Performance Total
Duty 

Achieved

223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 498,257 538,718 (40,461) No

223I(2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223I(3)

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 498,257 538,718 (40,461) No

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 7,039 6,756 283 Yes

Restated Restated Restated

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

£'000 £'000 £'000

National 

Health 

Service Act 

Section

Duty Target Performance Total
Duty 

Achieved

223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 453,740 464,410 (10,670) No

223I(2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 25 25 0 Yes

223I(3)

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 453,715 464,385 (10,670) No

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 7,941 5,746 2,195 Yes

Clinical Commissioning Groups resource is split between Capital resource [223I(2)] and Revenue resource [223I(3)], Capital resource must be used for capital 

expenditure only and must not exceed the capital resource allocation, any underspend against capital resources cannot be used within the revenue resource reported 

position.

Revenue resource is allocated separately for programme and administrative costs [223J(3)]. Expenditure against these allocations is monitored separately. Clinical 

Commissioning Groups are asked to ensure that plans are in place to ensure administrative costs are not overspent. Underspends on administrative costs may be used 

to offset overspends within programme allocations.

Due to the Clinical Commissioning Group exceeding its revenue resource limit in this financial year 2016-17 and in 2015-16, a Section 30 report was issued by the 

clinical commissioning groups local auditors to the Secutary of State for Health under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

The Revenue resource targets above have been restated in both 2016-17 and 2015-16 for the effect that the prior period adjustments from Note 2 have on the brought 

forward cumulative deficits the Clinical Commissioning Group has after restatement of its net expenditure. In 2016-17 the Revenue resource target has been reduced by 

£5,630k for the allocation adjustment that would have been made from having a larger brought forward deficit in 2015-16. In 2015-16 the Revenue resource target has 

been reduced by £3,969k.
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